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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the "Stock Exchange”)
ERBERZMBRLAA ([BRXH]) GEM 25B€

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and

careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be

a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the

whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the "Director(s)") of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (the "Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report

misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of
the Stock Exchange website at http.//www.hkexnews.hk for at least 7 days
from its date of posting and on the designated website of this Company at

http://www.zjuv8366.com.
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Highlights
S

REVENUE
Yezs

FY2021/22: HK$133.3m
TR/ CHF 1333888
FY2020/21: HK$ 1 10.1m
—EIT/-HF 0 BEET

LOSS PER SHARE

BRER

FY2021/22: HK0.47 cents
—E-—/ZZBF 04781
FY2020/21: HK5.92 cents
ZEZT/Z—BF 5923

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2021/22
—E-—/ZCHEERNE

1.4%

GROSS PROFIT
EF

FY2021/22: HK$ 1.9m
ZEI-/ZCBE I9BBAT
FY2020/21: HK$ |.5m

—ECF /- -WF:ISEEAT

NET LOSS
B8

FY2021/22: HK$7.4m
TEC—/CCBE74RBAT
FY2020/21: HK$93.4m
T/ -HF934BEBL

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN FY2020/2
—ECT /MR ENX

1.3%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is a contractor principally engaged in undertaking slope
works, foundation works and other general building works in Hong Kong.
Slope works generally refer to landslip preventive and remedial works
for improving or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls.
Foundation works are generally concerned with the construction of
foundations. General building works mainly include the general construction
of buildings. Fraser Construction Company Limited, our principal operating
subsidiary, is an approved specialist contractor included in the List of
Approved Specialist Contractors for Public Works maintained by the
Development Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Hong Kong Government”) under the
categories of “Landslip Preventive/Remedial Works to Slopes/Retaining
Walls” with a confirmed status and “Land Piling (Group II)". Being on such
list is a prerequisite for tendering for public sector projects in the relevant
works categories. In addition, Fraser Construction Company Limited is
registered under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as a (i) Registered Specialist Contractor under the sub-register
of "Site Formation Works" and “Foundation Works" categories; and (ii)

Registered General Building Contractor.

The Group experienced an increase in revenue and slightly increase in gross
profit margin, recorded a decrease in net loss for the year ended 30 April
2022 compared to the net loss for the year ended 30 April 2021. Hong
Kong construction companies are facing tougher competitive condition,
as well as the slower progress of scrutinising the funding proposals for
public works projects by the Finance Committee and the Public Works
Subcommittee due to political and social chaos in Hong Kong. The Group
has also been facing challenging operating environment resulting from
increasing costs of operation including, in particular, higher subcontracting
rate and higher general operation costs. As such, the Directors consider

that competition in the market has become more intense recently.
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B W R DA

The Directors are also cautiously monitoring the overall construction costs
with respect to the works undertaken by the Group which are affected by
factors including the overall market conditions and costs in the construction

industry as well as overall economy in Hong Kong.

Going forward, in developing the Group's business, the Directors will
continue to carefully evaluate the potential costs and to control the Group's

overall costs to an acceptable and satisfactory level.

Nevertheless, we believe that the Hong Kong Government's continuing
increase in major construction and infrastructure projects in Hong Kong
will increase the demand for slope works because of the public safety. The
Hong Kong Government still maintain its stand to launch a rolling Landslip
Prevention and Mitigation Programme to systematically deal with the
landslide risk associated with both man-made slopes and natural hillsides.
The stand enable steady flow of slopes construction works load to the
construction industry. All in all, the Directors remain cautiously optimistic

about the slope works industry in Hong Kong.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has obtained public projects from
each of Civil Engineering and Development Department (“CEDD") and
Lands Department of the Hong Kong Government respectively, which are

expected to be completed in the coming years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's overall revenue increased by approximately HK$23.2 million
or 21.1% from approximately HK$110.1 million for the year ended 30 April
2021 to approximately HK$133.3 million for the year ended 30 April 2022.
The increase in revenue is mainly due to the increase in revenue derived
from undertaking slope works and foundation works as further discussed

below.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Board regards the Group's business of construction as a single
operating segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as a
whole to make decision about resources allocation. Accordingly, no
segment analysis information is presented. No separate analysis of segment
information by geographical segment is presented as the Group's revenue
and non-current assets are principally attributable to a single geographical
region, which is in Hong Kong. The Group's principal operating activities for

the year ended 30 April 2022 are as follows:

Slope works: Undertaking landslip preventive and remedial works for
improving or maintaining the stability of slopes and/or retaining walls.
Revenue from undertaking slope works increased from approximately
HK$110.0 million for the year ended 30 April 2021 to approximately
HK$133.0 million for the year ended 30 April 2022, representing an
increase of approximately 21.0%. The increase in revenue was primarily

attributable due to the increase of slope work projects.

Foundation works: Undertaking works in relation to the construction of
foundations for general building construction. Revenue from undertaking
foundation works increased from approximately HK$0.1 million for the year
ended 30 April 2021 to approximately HK$0.3 million for the year ended
30 April 2022, representing an increase of approximately 200%, as a result
of the increase in the number of foundation work projects undertaken by

our Group during the year ended 30 April 2022.

The Group's direct costs increased by approximately HK$22.8 million or
21.0% from approximately HK$108.7 million for the year ended 30 April
2021 to approximately HK$131.5 million for the year ended 30 April 2022.
Such increment was mainly attributable to the increase in amount of works

performed resulting in the increase in our subcontracting charges.

The Group's gross profit slightly increased by approximately HK$0.4 million
or 26.7% from approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 30 April
2021 to approximately HK$1.9 million for the year ended 30 April 2022
and the Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately 1.3% for
the year ended 30 April 2021 to approximately 1.4% for the year ended
30 April 2022. The slightly increase in gross profit margin were mainly
due to (i) increase in projects and (ii) tight control in subcontracting rate
and overall construction costs for existing projects under the tougher
competitive condition and challenging operating environment in Hong Kong

construction market.
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Other Income and Other Net Loss

The Group's other income and other net loss amounted to approximately
HK$1.3 million and HK$0.9 million for the years ended 30 April 2021
and 2022 respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of
government grant of approximately HK$1.3 million for the year ended 30
April 2022.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$5.5
million or approximately 36.7% from approximately HK$15.0 million for
the year ended 30 April 2021 to approximately HK$9.5 million for the year
ended 30 April 2022. The decrease in the Group's administrative expenses
was mainly due of the decrease in total staff costs and short-term leases

expenses.

Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has incurred a loss of
approximately HK$23.6 million due to the Special Event mentioned below
under the heading of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC. More information
is set out in note 2.4 and note 23(b) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group has incurred a loss of
approximately HK$0.2 million. More information is set out in note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Impairment loss on financial assets
Impairment loss on financial assets amounted to approximately HKS$O. |
million and 57.5 million for the year ended 30 April 2022 and 2021

respectively, details of which are as follows:

(i)  During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group has incurred an
impairment loss of approximately HK$0.| million. More information is

set out in notes 8(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(i) During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has incurred an
impairment loss of approximately HK$43.9 million due to an amount
due from a deconsolidated subsidiary. More information is set out in

note 2.4 and note 23(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(i)  During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group has incurred an
impairment loss of approximately HK$13.4 million. More information
is set out in notes 8(b), 16(b) and (c) to the consolidated financial

statements.

Finance Costs
During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group has incurred financial costs

of approximately HK$0.3 million due to interest on borrowings.

Net Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 30 April
2022 was approximately HK$7.4 million as compared to loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$93.4 million for the year
ended 30 April 2021.The decrease in net loss for the year was mainly due
to decrease in loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and impairment loss
on financial assets as a result of the Special Event for the year ended 30

April 2021 as discussed above.

Final Dividend
The Board did not recommend a payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 30 April 2022 (2021: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 April 2022, current assets amounted to HK$7I1.l million (2021:
HK$49.4 million) of which HK$44.8 million (2021: HK$25.2 million) was
cash and cash equivalents, HK$16.5 million (2021: HK$14.3 million) was
trade and other receivables. The Group's current liabilities amounted to
HK$90.6 million (202 1: HK$62.0 million), including trade and other payables
in the amount of HK$85.6 million (2021: HK$62.0 million). Calculated based
on current assets of HK$7 1.1 million (2021: HK$49.4 million) divided by
current liabilities of HK$90.6 million (2021: HK$62.0 million), current ratio
was 0.8 (2021:0.8).
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CASH POSITION

As at 30 April 2022, the cash at banks and other financial institution and
cash in hand of the Group amounted to approximately HK$44.8 million
(2021: approximately HK$25.2 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$19.6 million as compared to 30 April 2021.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS OF THE GROUP
There is no charge over assets of the Group as at 30 April 2022 (2021: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
As at 30 April 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
negative 317.7% (2021: approximately negative 286.5%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$6!.I million (2021:
HK$34.0 million) divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company
HK$19.2 million deficit (2021: HK$ 1.9 million deficit) as the respective
reporting date. For this purpose total debts is defined as amounts due to
former directors, amount due to director of a subsidiary, and borrowings
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group's
gearing ratio was negative as the Group's equity was deficit position as at
30 April 2022.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The majority of the Group's transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. The Group has no material exposed to

exchange rate risk for the year ended 30 April 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no material capital commitment as at 30 April 2022 (2021:
Nil).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 April 2022, the Group had 46 (2021: 36) employees, including
the Directors. Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) were
approximately HK$5.5 million for the year ended 30 April 2022 as
compared to approximately HK$7.3 million for the year ended 30 April
2021. The remuneration policy and package of the Group's employees
were annually reviewed. The salaries increment and discretionary bonuses
may be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual

performance.

The emoluments of the Directors were reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Company, having regard to the Company's operating
results, market competitiveness, individual performance, and approved by

the Board.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES,AND PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other plans

for material investments or capital assets as of 30 April 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 April 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021:
Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The change in the capital structure of the Company for the year ended 30
April 2022 is set out in note 2| to the consolidated financial statements.

The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 30 April 2022, the Company's issued capital was approximately
HK$15.8 million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was

1,577,200,000 of HK$0.01 each.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on note 5 to

the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's key risk exposures are summarized as follows:

A significant portion of the Group's past revenue was generated
from contracts granted by the Hong Kong Government and statutory
bodies, which are non-recurrent in nature, and if the level of Hong
Kong Government's spending on construction projects particularly
for slope works is reduced, the Group's financial performance may be

materially affected;

i.  The Group is dependent on its senior management and in-house
engineers, inability to retain its staff may adversely affect the Group'’s

business operations; and

ii.  Any delays in the Group's projects may affect the Group's cash flows

and may have adverse impact on the Group's business and reputation.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer to the
section headed “Risks Factors”
October 2015.

in the Company's prospectus dated 23

COMPLIANCEWITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's
subsidiaries in Hong Kong while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Our establishment and operations shall therefore comply with
the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong. External compliance
and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions and businesses
performed by the Group are within the applicable law framework. Updates
on applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and operation units from time to time. During the year
ended 30 April 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, there is no
material non-compliance with the relevant prevailing laws and regulations in

Hong Kong by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS
AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group's customers mainly include (a) for public sector projects, Hong
Kong Government departments such as CEDD, Lands Department and
Architectural Services Department, as well as other statutory bodies
including the Hong Kong Housing Authority; and (b) for private sector

projects, private corporations and other entities in the private sector.

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group served customers from
both of public and private sector in Hong Kong. The Group has business
relationship with most of the top customers ranging from one year to over

10 years.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the suppliers of goods and services
which were specific to the business of the Group and were required on
a regular basis to enable the Group to continue to carry on its business
included (i) subcontractors engaged by the Group to perform the slope
works; (ii) suppliers of construction materials and consumables as such

high-tensile steel, structural steel, cement and aggregates.

The Group maintains an internal list of approved subcontractors. While
engaging subcontractors, the Group generally selects the most suitable
subcontractor from the approved list based on their relevant experience as

well as their availability and fee quotations.

The Group did not experience any material difficulties in sourcing materials
from suppliers or assigning subcontractors during the year ended 30 April
2022. Also, there is no significant dispute with our top five suppliers and
subcontractors during the year ended 30 April 2022,

Employees

The Group believes that employees are important assets and their
contribution and support are valued at all times. The Group provides
competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain employees
with the aim to form a professional staff and management team that can
bring the Group to new levels of success. The Group regularly reviews
compensation according to industry benchmark, financial results as well as
the individual performance of employees. Furthermore, the Group places
great emphasis on the training and development of employees and regards

excellent employees as a key factor in its competitiveness.
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Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC

Pursuants to the Company's announcement dated 15 October 2021, the

Company appointed a legal adviser (the “PRC Legal Adviser”) and the

Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Advisers as below:

D)

2)

3)

*

The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch office of the
Hangzhou Public Security Bureau* (MW AZBHERDF) and
it indicated that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were suspected of illegal
absorption of public deposits under the operation of Zhejiang United
Small-and Medium-sized Enterprises Holdings Group Company
Limited* (T LBta R/ NEEEREEBRAF]), a company incorporated
and operated in the PRC of which Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the
ultimate shareholders and not a subsidiary within the Group, which
were under formal investigation. On 21 July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng were held in custody by the Bureau. On 26 August 2021, Mr.
Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially arrested by People's Procuratorate
of Gongshu District, Hangzhou. The Bureau has published a press

release in relation to their arrest on 27 August 2021

The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit to the registered
offices and principal places of business of the PRC subsidiaries, namely
Zhejiang Zhong Chun Wenhua Keji Limited* (T HZENXLRIEA
BRAR]) (“Zhejiang Zhong Chun"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan Guanli
Limited* (I B EEEERBMRAF]) ("Zhejiang Fulian™) and Zhejiang
Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun Jishu Limited* (T EEBAZRMAER A
al) ("Zhejiang Xinlian”) and found that, the respective premises of
the registered offices and principal places of business of the above
mentioned PRC subsidiaries were either empty or occupied by other
parties instead of the above mentioned PRC subsidiaries. The PRC
Legal Adviser made enquiry to the relevant government authorities
and found that no other business addresses were registered by the

above mentioned PRC subsidiaries.

The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the offices of the
principal banks of the PRC subsidiaries which responded that the
details and status of the bank accounts of the PRC subsidiaries could
only be accessed by their legal representatives or their delegate. All
the legal representatives of the PRC subsidiaries were unable to be

contacted during the investigation.
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Up to the date of the this report, the Group was not able to locate the
books and records of Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang
Xinlian and not able to obtain the latest information of Zhejiang Zhong
Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian for the purpose of preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 30 April 2022
and 2021, as a result of the event mentioned above in point I, 2 and 3 (the
“Special Event"). The Group has lost control over Zhejiang Zhong Chun,
Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian and accounted for deconsolidation
of Zhejiang Zhong Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian (the
“Deconsolidation”) for the year ended 30 April 202 1. Therefore, the Group
has recorded loss on Deconsolidation of approximately HK$23.6 million
and impairment loss on amount due from deconsolidated subsidiary of

approximately HK$43.9 million in relation to the Deconsolidation.

Disposal of subsidiaries
The Company has appointed the PRC Legal Adviser to attempt resuming
control on the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Company faced serious

obstacles. The report of the PRC Legal Adviser indicating the Company that:

()  replacement of the seal (RXZE) of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
(the “Seal”) requires the signatures of the legal representative of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, however the legal representative namely
Mr. Zhou whom the Company has been unable to contact since 22
July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially arrested by People’s
Procuratorate of Gongshu District, Hangzhou on 26 August 2021 and
the Bureau has published a press release in relation to their arrest on
27 August 2021;

(i) change of legal representative requires the Seal; and

(i) the Company is not able to regain control of the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries as mentioned in (i) and (ii) above.

BEEENWKE D

ARERE 2R3BRENES EEARSE
A AREREHEREE_T__FR-F
Z—ENAZTRILFE G MBERRIEN
TRE ST BB M T MEE kL
AREHIFE MIEEMINBORTE
B (FRIEH]) - ASEERAEINIRZ i
TEERATIB 0GR YREE—F=—
FMA=ZTRILFELHGEARNIFRZ H
TEE LT ([ IHRaAR]) Bt &
SEEHRBERRIEGAEARNERLN2368
ERTRBREGAE ARERE HEa AKRHM
BARFIENREEBBL4398EH T

HEHELE
ARBEREFEAEERABRESR LR
AAROMBARMES ARFHEERER
B EZEBRNRE RS AR

) FEREEAARNHELRNAE ([2
EFHEREGAARNME QRN
EEREARR BARRIE T —F
tAZTZBUR-EEEBBATAK
ANERE BERENARTIER T~
FNAZTARBRAMTHER ARRE
REAZH ARBER-_Z=—%/\H
—trEREHM-SRHHER:

(i) FEERRANBEZEMELAZ R

(iy  ARBE £ EEEFTRER
LEARE ABREI I 2 A -

15



ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWKE D

Based on the report from the PRC Legal Adviser, the Board concluded
that the resumption of the control of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
was not possible (the “Resumption”). After then, the Board assessed and
evaluated the benefit of the disposal of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
(the "Disposal”), carried out and completed the Disposal on 29 April
2022. The Company entered into several sale and purchase agreements
to dispose of (i) the entire equity interest in Liangzhu Global Limited
which held a subsidiary, (ii) the entire equity interest in Sunvot Holdings
Limited which held several subsidiaries including two of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries and (iii) the entire equity interest in Zhejian Zhong Chun, one
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, at cash consideration of HK$20,000 in
aggregate to the purchaser, Mr. Zhao Chengjin, an independent third party.
As a result, the Group recognised a loss on the disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$0.2 million and the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries including
their shareholder as intermediate holding company were no longer be a

member of the Company.

Management’s View on the Disclaimer of Opinion

The management of the Company has given careful consideration to the
Disclaimer of Opinion and the basis of Disclaimer of Opinion and has had
ongoing discussion with the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor’”) when

preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Regarding disclaimer of opinion, deconsolidation of subsidiaries, as disclosed
in this annual report, to the management'’s best knowledge and belief, the
management understood that the limitation of scope was mainly due to
the Special Event mentioned in above under the heading of Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries in PRC.
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In order to address it, the management had used their best endeavours
to locate the books and records and information of Zhejiang Zhong
Chun, Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian but in vain. Subsequent to
the reporting period for the year ended 30 April 2021, the management
concluded that the Group lost the control of Zhejiang Zhong Chun,
Zhejiang Fulian and Zhejiang Xinlian (the “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”)
which were deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of

the Group for the year ended 30 April 2021.

Regarding the disclaimer opinion, deconsolidation of subsidiaries, the
Directors used their best endeavours to locate the books and records and
have appointed the PRC Legal Adviser to assist the Directors to obtain
more information of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. As a result of the
Special Event, a decision of deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
was made for the year ended 30 April 2021. As a result of the failure of
Resumption, the Disposal was completed on 29 April 2022.

After discussing with the professional parties of the Company, the
management are of the view that (i) the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries have
already been disposed on 29 April 2022 and (ii) the Group no longer held
any interest in the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, there will not be disclaimer
of opinion in this regard but qualified opinion on the comparability of the
corresponding figures only in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 30 April 2023; and there will no longer be any qualified opinion
in this regard for the year ending 30 April 2024.
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Audit Committee’s View and removal of the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company had tried to provide sufficient supporting document and
information to the Auditor. However, up to the reporting date, the books
and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were not available due to

the Special Event.

Due to the incomplete books and records of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries, the Auditor was unable to carry out audit procedures to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as well as the
disclosures set out in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

were free from material misstatement.

The Audit Committee acknowledged the views of the Auditor regarding
the disclaimer of opinion. The Audit Committee is of the view that (i)
the Company has already completed the Disposal for the year ended 30
April 2022. Upon completion of the Disposal, the Group no longer held
any interest in the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries including its shareholder as
intermediate holding company, (i) in view of the deconsolidation of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in PRC for the financial year ended 30 April
2021, the limitation of scope was one-off and non-recurring incident and
(iii) in view of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries have already been disposed
on 29 April 2022, the audit qualification related to the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries will be on the comparability of the corresponding figures
only in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 April
2023 and no such audit qualification will exist in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 30 April 2024. The auditor of the Company
have confirmed that they concur with this view of the Audit Committee and

the management.

Project during the Year

There was no new significant project for the year ended 30 April 2022.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously named as Law Ka Ming Michael,
aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director on 5 July 2022. Mr. Law
has more than thirty years' experience in construction and property
development. In the past, he took up some key management positions
with major Hong Kong property developers and has held corporate
management role in logistic facilities development companies. He acted as a
vice president in KI | Concepts Limited from 2017 to 2019. He acted as a
project director in Kerry Properties China Limited from 2012 to 2017.

Mr. Law holds a master's degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and hold a Bachelor degree in building
studies from Hong Kong University. He is a Chartered Quantity Surveyor of
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a member of Hong Kong

Institute of Surveyors.

Mr. Law is currently an independent non-executive director of Century
Group International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2113), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange").
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Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai”), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on |9 November 2019 and re-
designated as executive Director and appointed as the Company Secretary
on 19 July 2021, Ms. Lai was appointed as the Compliance Officer of the
Company on 30 September 2021. Ms. Lai has over 20 years of auditing,
accounting and financial management experience. She obtained a master
degree of business administration from the University of Manchester. She
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

She is currently an independent non-executive director of KPa-BM Holdings
Ltd (stock code: 2663), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, an independent non-executive director of KNK Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8039) since August 2019, company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange. She was an independent non-executive director
of CT Environmental Group Limited (previous stock code: 1363 prior
of delisting from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from 3 August
2020 to 9 August 2021. She was a non-executive director of Larry Jewelry
International Company Limited (stock code: 8351, prior to delisting from
GEM of the Stock Exchange) from 26 February 2020 to 30 November
2021,

B2t ([B&t]) 575 R-F— N5
T-ATNBERZERBUNFNTESIR

TFEATNBERERRTERERERE
RARAME - BUIR_Z-_—FAA=1H
BZERARRIGREME BRI HERE205E
i SR RMBEELR  WREERHBAZ
THERRLTEM- - RARTLRGTMASE
AR YABRBEIMAEEE-

R RENERBRAT] (RIDRS 2663

— RN R ER ETHA ﬂ)ﬁ@ﬁﬁ#iﬂhé
£ AT-NEN\AREFTREREBREER
BREAF (BAEE 8039  —FREEZFTGEM
ETRRAMBUERTES RS _ZF
NAZREZZZ—FA\ANR HEAFER
REBARDF (AT E R HEATH AT
R 1363) 2 BURTEST - N_T_F
FZRAZT A HEZZZ—F1+— H T8 %
LAEBXEABRBRERAR (R ATGEMR
BB ERTARID RS 8351 ) MFERITE = -



FIBAREZEREEERAL T
2022 & 8

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (“Mr. Choi”), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 30 September 2021. Mr. Choi has knowledge in corporate
finance transactions in Hong Kong. He is experienced for working in
mergers & acquisition, analysing financial and market data, responsible
for coordinating and supporting integration planning for acquisitions, and
taking deals through the full process to successful completion. Mr. Choi is
a valuation practitioner of International Association of Certified Valuation
Specialists since 2019. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of Certified Practising Accountants
Australia and a member of Chartered Global Management Accountant. Mr.
Choi graduated from Hong Kong Metropolitan University with a Master of
Law (Chinese Business Law) in Hong Kong in 2017. He obtained a Bachelor
of Business (Accounting) from Central Queensland University in Australia in
2003 and further studied Postgraduate Diploma of Accounting in Monash
University in Australia in 2005.

He is currently (i) the financial controller of the Company; (ii) an executive
director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) and
Simplicity Holding Limited (stock code: 8367), both companies listed on the
GEM of Stock Exchange; and (iii) an independent non-executive director
of Sunway International Holdings Limited (stock code: 58) and On Real
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245), a company listed on the
Main Board and GEM of the Stock Exchange respectively. (iv) a company
secretary of Simplicity Holding Limited. In the past, Mr. Choi was a financial
controller of a company which was listed in GEM in 2019 and he was a
senior audit manager in the audit department of HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (“HLB") in Hong Kong and involved in the professional jobs
such as IPO, substantial acquisition and disposal, financial due diligence,
statutory audit and internal control review. He worked in HLB for more

than ten years from February 2007 to December 2017.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, aged 39, was appointed as an Independent non-
executive Director on 21 October 202 1. Mr. Leung has more than 16 years

of experience in finance and asset management.

Mr. Leung received his Bachelor of Science in Risk Management and his
Master of Philosophy in Systems Engineering and Engineering Management
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is currently a certified
Financial Risk Manager (FRM), a certified Environmental, Social and
Governance Analyst (CESGAR), an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (CGl) in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan, aged 43, was appointed as an Independent non-
executive Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Hui has over |6 years of
working experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and

corporate finance.

Mr. Hui holds Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in
Applied Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance)

from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Hui is currently an independent non-executive director of Upbest
Group Limited (stock code: 335) and Elegance Optical International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 907), both companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (stock code: 8379),
a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 18 January 2018
to 15 December 2021.
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Mr. Fu Yan Ming, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director on 21 October 2021. Mr. Fu possess over 30 years of experience
in accounting, audit, internal control, financial management, strategic
business planning, corporate finance, merger and acquisition and corporate
governance. He has worked for various sizeable organizations including
accounting firms, pharmaceutical distribution company, TMT (Technology,
Media and Telecommunications) companies, manufacturing companies and
consultancy firm. During the past |5 years, he held various senior positions
including financial controller and company secretary in main board and GEM

listed companies of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He obtained a Bachelors' Degree of Business Administration

from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fu is currently an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific
(China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148), a company listed on the GEM of
Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu was an executive director of On Real International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245), a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, from October 2016 to September 2019.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Project director

Mr.YU Shek Man Ringo previously named as YU Shek Man, aged 65, was
the founder of our Group. He was appointed as our executive Director
from 20 May 2015 to 26 July 2017. He was appointed as the chairman
of the Board from |4 October 2015 to 26 July 2017. He is a director of

various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor degree of Engineering-Civil from Mcgill
University in Canada in November [982. Mr. Yu has been registered as a
Chartered Engineer with The Engineering Council in the United Kingdom
since May 1987. Mr. Yu has also been a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers in the United Kingdom since November 1986 and
a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in the United Kingdom
since May 1995. Mr. Yu has become a member and then a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since March 1990 and January 2006

respectively.
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Mr.Yu has over 39 years of experience in the construction industry in Hong
Kong. Prior to founding our Group, Mr.Yu had accumulated approximately
|9 years of experience in the construction industry in Hong Kong through
his employment in various firms including Vibro Construction Company
Limited (formerly known as Barbican Construction Company, Ltd.) from
March 1987 to March 1989 and from November 1990 to June 1996, Ove
Arup & Partners Hong Kong Limited from May 1990 to October 1990, John
Connell & Associates Limited from April 1989 to March 1990, Siu Yin Wai
& Associates Limited from June 1983 to March 1987, and GHD Limited
(formerly known as Rankine & Hill (Hong Kong) Limited) from October
1982 to May 1983.

Mr. Yu received the Grand Leadership Award under the Professional
Volunteer Service Accreditation Programme for the session 2013/2014
from The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Hong Kong Council of
Volunteering and Agency for Volunteer Service in recognition of his

contribution to volunteer service.

Project Manager

Mr. Lee Ho Cheong (“Mr. Lee”), is our senior project manager who
is responsible for project management and supervision. Mr. Lee joined
our Group in July 2000. He has over 27 vyears of experience in the
construction industry in Hong Kong. Prior to joining our Group, he had
accumulated experience in the construction industry in Hong Kong
through his employment in AECOM Asia Company Limited (formerly
known as Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited) from July 1999 to July 2000,
Vibro (H.K) Limited from August 1997 to July 1999, AECOM Consulting
Services Limited (formerly known as Scott Wilson (Hong Kong) Limited)
from November 1995 to July 1997 and Franki Contractors Limited from
November 1992 to October 1995.
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Mr. Lee completed the Construction Supervisor Trainee programme, the
Construction Safety Officer Course, and the Environmental Officer course,
all of which were organised by the Construction Industry Training Authority,
in August 1992, January 2004, and March 2007 respectively. He also
obtained a certificate in Civil Engineering Studies through part-time studies
from the Haking Wong Technical Institute (now known as IVE (Haking
Wong)) in August 1993 and a higher certificate in Civil Engineering from
Hong Kong Technical Colleges in July 1995. Mr. Lee also completed a safety
auditor training scheme organised by the Construction Industry Council in

September 201 1.

Mr. Ho Chi Ming, Alvin (“Mr. Ho”), is our senior project manager who is
responsible for project management and supervision. Mr. Ho joined our
Group in May 2003. Mr. Ho has been an associate member of The Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers since May 2005, a member of the Australian
Institute of Building since May 2007, and is currently a member of The Hong

Kong Institute of Construction Managers.

Mr. Ho has over 28 years of experience in the construction industry
in Hong Kong. Prior to joining us, he had accumulated experience in
the industry through his employment in Ka Construction Company
Limited from February 2000 to January 2003, PYl Management Limited
(formerly known as Paul Y.-ITC Management Limited) from July 1995
to February 2000, AECOM Asia Company Limited (formerly known as
Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited) from July 1993 to July 1995, and D.E.
Engineering Company from March 1992 to March 1993. Mr. Ho obtained a
certificate in Civil Engineering from Haking Wong Technical Institute (now
known as IVE (Haking Wong)) in September 1995 (by part-time studies),
a certificate of Construction Safety Supervisor from the Construction
Industry Training Authority in October 1995, a higher certificate in Civil
Engineering from Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997 (by part-time
studies), and a Bachelor of Applied Science in Construction Management
& Economics degree from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in
September 2004 (by part-time studies and long distance learning). Mr. Ho
also completed a Construction Safety Officer course organised by the

Construction Industry Training Authority in August 2000.
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to
present hereby the corporate governance report of the Company for the
year ended 30 April 2022 (the “Year").

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the importance
of sound corporate governance to the long-term success and continuing
development of the Group. Therefore, the Board takes the view that good
corporate standards and procedures, so as to improve the accountability
system and transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create

value for Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), except
the followings in Appendix |5 of the GEM Listing Rules save for the

deviation from code provision A.2.1 explained below.

(i) Code provision A.1.8 — The Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors. The
insurance was bought and covered for the period of one year with

effective from |1 August 2021.

(i)  Code provision A2.l — The roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Zhou has been managing the Company' s business and
the overall financial and strategic planning since July 2017. Since the
Company has appointed Mr. Zhou as chairman and chief executive
officer, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer were not
separated and performed by two different individuals. Mr. Zhou was

removed by the EGM on 30 September 2021.

(i) Code provision A2.7 — The chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the independent non-executive directors without the
presence of other directors. No chairman was appointed since Mr
Zhou was removed by the EGM on 30 September. No such meeting

could be arranged during the Year.

BREEBHAERFMERAE ([BMRAM]) GEM
#FHEmRA ([CEMETRA) E18441% &
EEMAREAREBE_T-__FHNA=1
AILFE ([AFEE)MEEE @S-

AEEESFREEEATRE2EXERHLRE
ENRENNEFEERERER A EF
ERARERCEREREFAINEAEENMA

AHERRESERE RERRMNEZ L ARRE
EEE-
TEERTA

WAFEE  BRGEMEMRRAM ST RMETIIE
BN AR -EETEEERTA ([RXER
SPRIL) BB R T RIS - M T SRR A ST Al
XA GEFRRBEERSD -

() TFRAEXEAISKE-ALRRUEREE
EARERH OERTHIEEE 2 RRE
H-ERBREARBNARKEARZ

—EN\At+—BRFEE—F-

(i) TREXFEA2 HE—FRERITHERZ A
@Eﬁ@“"ﬁ$ﬁm—Aﬁ%%Eoﬁ
REBZT—tFLAR-EEEAR
m%%&%%%%ﬂﬁ%ﬁaomm$u
AIRERRALERERRITHEH R
RiTHBH 2 ACTERSD  MEHRE
TRMATEE-ARER-T_—FN
A=+HERREIAGE

(i) SFAGRNEA7GR-TFERELEFEE

UFRTESFRTRAHMEFLENE

e MRALENLA =T BRBRESS

@%%/Iﬁéﬁff'ﬁ$¢rﬂﬁ
EZHEEEE-



FIBAREZEREEERAL T
2022 & 8

Since 21 October 2021, due to the presence of three independent non-
executive Directors which represent half of the Board, the Board considers
that there is a balance of power and authority such that no one individual

has unfettered power of decision.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted a code of provisions of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors the (“Code of Conduct”) on terms
no less exacting than the required standards of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries with
the Directors except Mr. Zhou Ying and Ms. Meng Ying, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in

the Code of Conduct during the year ended 30 April 2022.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less

exacting terms than the Code of Conduct for the Year

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board
Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six Directors,
including three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (“INED(s)"). In particular, the composition of the Board is set out

as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously named as Law Ka Ming Michael
(appointed on 5 July 2022)

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Compliance Officer)
(re-designated from INED on 19 July 2021)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap (appointed on 30 September 2021)

Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Ms. Meng Ying (Compliance Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Corporate Governance Report
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Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. FuYan Ming
(appointed on 2| October 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(re-designated to executive Director on 19 July 2021)
Dr.Wong Foelan
(appointed on 26 April 2021 and resigned on 21 June 2021)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group acknowledges the impact of its works to its employees, the
community and the environment. Together with its employees and staffs
from its subcontractors and suppliers, the Group's emissions and waste
generation are strictly controlled and monitored. As required for all
construction sites, the Group complies with the following environmental
laws and ordinance, all emissions and waste generated during operation are

strictly controlled and monitored.

Further discussions on the Group's environmental policies and our
relationship with various stakeholders are covered by a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance report which will be available at the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in due course as soon as

possible.
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The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group's
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision of
management performance. The management is delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the management and administration of
the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities
to the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Further details of the Board Committees are set out in this annual report.
Pursuant to the terms of reference, the duties performed by the Board in

respect of corporate governance are as follows:

to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate

governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;

5. to review the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in

the corporate governance report of the Company; and

6. to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the constitution of the Company or
imposed by the GEM Listing Rules or applicable laws.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no financial, business,

family or other material or relevant relationship among members of the

Board and senior management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Board consisted of three INEDs during the year ended 30 April 2022,
except for the period from | May 2021 to 20 October 2021. During the
year ended 30 April 2022, the number of INEDs represents more than one-
third of the Board, except for the period from | May 2021 to 20 October
2021. At least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or

accounting or related financial management expertise.

The functions of independent non-executive directors are primarily to
bring an independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conducts at

board meetings.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Current independent non-executive directors have made an annual
confirmation of independence by reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Company considers that all independent nonexecutive

directors were independent.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai") was ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and remained as a member of the Nomination
Committee on 7 April 2022. Ms. Lai ceased to be a non-executive director
of Larry Jewelry International Limited (stock code: 8351 prior to the
delisting from GEM of the Stock Exchange) on 30 November 2021 and also
ceased to be the company secretary of Evergreen International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 238 prior to delisting from the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) on 6 January 2022.

Mr. Choi has been appointed as an executive director and company
secretary of Simplicity Holding Limited (stock code: 8367) on 26 April
2022 and an independent non-executive director of On Real International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8245) on 21 April 2022.

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan ceased to be an independent non-executive director
of Prime intelligence Solutions Group Limited (stock code: 8379) on |5
December 2021.
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Mr. Fu Yan Ming had been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination

Committee on 7 April 2022.

APPOINTMENT RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
appointed for terms of three years. All the directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance with the

articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3

years. However, the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after their appointment and be subject to

reelection at such meeting.

RELATIONSHIPS AND ASSOCIATION AMONG THE DIRECTORS
There was no relationships between members of the Board, including

financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample
continuing professional development for the Directors for a sound and
effective internal control system and corporate governance. In this regard,
the Group has always encouraged our Directors to attend relevant training
courses to receive the latest news and knowledge regarding corporate

governance.

During the Year, the Group has provided all existing Directors training
material on the updates of the GEM Listing Rules concerning good
corporate governance practices. The Group will, if necessary, provide timely
and regular training material to the Directors to ensure that they keep

abreast with the current requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

2022

Corporate Governance Report

SEERBE

HRRALER_S__FMA+tHEZERE
rEBELR-

ZIERES

2REF (BRBUNNTER)E=FZHI
o READAAMERAA (TAA]) - FEE
EPAGERINEEEE K-

REANS 08k REERRBFAEL B
=Nz —NEFARRET ESEFARD
BFHREE—R AT REEFNEES
fEe

2

REANE 1208 ESERERRREZRNE
ENEMNEENTHEZERZERARAL
BEBRRAG L ERNAGR LIEREL-

ESCENBRREE
EXeN B AL EEMBAR (BRME X
B ORI EMERHHEE) -

ESNFRESRERTE

AEBETESRGRANAIREERER
HREEMTZABRNABEEZRRERER
MEZWN Rl AEE-EZBHEZHFEER
BHIERIE - NERBBEEE RHRINEE LA
2o

RAFE AEEERHEZERAESHHCM
IHRAFERRHEERERRROKHER
HIEAIN L AEERRFEEREEREER R
EHIEA - AHERK S ZRGEM E AR AT
BE -

31



32

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Corporate Governance Report

TRERBRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Up to the date of this corporate governance report, the Company adopted
a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) from the date of
Listing and amended with effect from | January 2019. A summary of this
Board Diversity Policy, together with the measureable objectives set for
implementing this Board Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards

achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

The Company recognised the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy aimed
to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. In designing the
Board's composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of measurable aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services, all of which the Company considers to be important
to enhance the quality of its performance. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective

criteria, having due regards for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for
approval. The Nomination Committee will from time to time review the

Board Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee of the Board has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved

the Board Diversity Policy for the year ended 30 April 2022.
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As at the date of this report, the diversity of Board's composition was

summarised as follow:

6 —
5 INED
B
4 b FHTES
Chinese
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| WITES
0
Gender Designation Ethnicity
1l B Tk

BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The CG Code requires regular meeting of the Board be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board
meetings involve the active participation, either in person or by telephone
conference. Under code provision A.1.3 of the CG Code, notice of at
least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to all Directors
to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Certain regular Board
meetings were convened with less than 14 days' notice to enable the
Board members to react timely and make expeditious decision making in
respect of transactions which were of significance to the Group's businesses.
As a result, the Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period
than required with the consent of all the Directors for that time being.
The Board will do its best endeavours to meet the requirement of code
provision A.l.3 of the CG Code in future. Adequate and appropriate
information is circulated in advance of Board meetings to the directors.
During the Year, no meeting was held between the Chairman met and the
INEDs. The Company utilises telephone conferencing for Directors who are

not able to attend in person.
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Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are drafted
by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in sufficient details the
matters considered and decisions reached, with draft and final versions
being circulated to the Directors for their comments and records within
reasonable time after the meetings are held. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) who kept the original minutes, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any

Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be
dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution. That
Director will abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which
he/she or any of his/her associates has a material interest and that he/she

shall not be counted in the quorum present at such Board meeting.

During the year ended 30 April 2022, eight board meetings were held. The
extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 30 September
2021 (the "EGM") and the annual general meeting of the Company was
held on 6 January 2022 (the “2021 AGM").
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The attendance of the respective Directors at the Board meetings, the EGM

and the 2021 AGM are set out in the table below:
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SREAES

FEFHRESSER RREAAER=
“FRRBEFAGMREHEIIMTR:

—E_-FEE22R ZET9

Directors’ attendance record of the board meetings,

committees meetings, and general meetings in 2021

ERERRRASZESHERSR

Extraordinary Annual Audit Nomination Remuneration

general general  Committee Board Committee =~ Committee

meeting* meeting* Meeting* Meeting* Meeting* Meeting*

BR%H RREF EREES EExe REZEE FMZES

RE* Rg* g = o = = &

Number of meetings &3 X &K | | 4 8 2 |

Executive Directors #H{TEE

Mr. Zhou Ying ! BERELE 0/1 N/A N/A /1 N/A N/A

Ms. Meng Ying 2 mETT? o/l N/A N/A 1/ N/A N/A

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy * B2EZ 13 1/ 1/ N/A 717 22 /1

Mr. Choi Pun Lap *  ZEZRSZ SR 44 N/A N/A N/A 717 N/A N/A
Independent non- BYKHTES

executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy * &2 2713 N/A N/A N/A /1 N/A N/A

Dr.Wong Foelan ®  EE{CBLS N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Mr. Fu Yan Ming ¢ BB A N/A N/A 4/4 717 N/A /1

Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan 7 FF3C86 58 47 N/A N/A 4/4 717 22 N/A

Mr. LeungTsun Ip & REZFEFAES N/A N/A 4/4 717 22 1/

Mr. Zhou Ying was removed as the Chairman and an Executive Director and

the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 30 September 2021 after the

conclusion of the EGM held on 30 September 2021.

Ms. Meng Ying was removed as an Executive Director and Compliance

Officer on 30 September 2021 after the conclusion of the EGM held on 30

September 2021.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was redesignated from Independent non-executive

Director to Executive Director and Company Secretary and ceased to be

a member of the Audit Committee on |9 July 2021, was appointed as the

Compliance Officer and chairman of the Nomination Committee on 30

September 202 | and ceased to be the chairman and remained as the member

of the Nomination Committee on 7 April 2022.
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Mr. Choi Pun Lap was appointed as an Executive Director on 30 September
2021.

Dr. Wong Foelan was resigned as an independent non-executive Director and
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of each of the

Audit Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 21 June 2021.

Mr. Fu Yan Ming was appointed as an Independent non-executive Directon
the chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Remuneration
Committee on 21 October 2021 and was appointed as the chairman of the

Nomination Committee on 7 April 2022.

Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan was appointed as an Independent non-executive
Director and member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination

Committee on 21 October 2021.

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip was appointed as an Independent non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of each of

the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 2| October 2021.

During the Year, all Directors discharged their duties in a dedicated, diligent
and proactive manner with reasonable prudence. They have executed their
duties in accordance with statutory requirements, the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the Listing Rules. All
Directors have exercised due care in monitoring corporate matters of the
Company and provided sufficient time and attention to all significant issues of

the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees in compliance

with the relevant GEM Listing Rules and to assist the Board to discharge

its duties. Currently, three committees have been established, the Audit

Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The functions and responsibilities of these committees have been set out

in the relevant terms of reference which are of no less stringent than that

stated in the Code. The relevant terms of reference of each of the three

committee can be found on the Group's website (http://www.zjuv8366.

com) and the website of the Stock Exchange. All committees have been

provided with sufficient resources and support from the Group to discharge

their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established on 14 October 2015 and
adopted a set of revised written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraphs C3.3 and
C.37 of the Code. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Audit Committee is comprised of the following Independent non-executive

Directors:

Mr. Fu Yan Ming (Chairman)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan
(appointed on 2| October 2021)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(ceased to be a member on 19 July 2021)
Dr. Wong Foelan
(resigned on 21 June 2021)

The members of the Audit Committee shall comprise INED and shall
be appointed or removed by the Board. If any member of the Audit
Committee ceases to be a Director, he will cease to be a member of the

Audit Committee automatically.

The Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at
least one of whom is an INED with appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. In addition, all of the Audit
Committee shall be INEDs.
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With reference to the terms of reference, the primary responsibilities of the
Audit Committee are, among others (for the complete terms of reference
please refer to the Group's website http://www.zjuv8366.com or the

website of the Stock Exchange):

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
review and supervision of the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control policies and procedures of the Company. The Audit
Committee also acts as the communication bridge between the Board and
the external auditor in relation to the planning and scope of audit work. The
appointment of members to the Audit Committee was based on members’
breadth of experience in various commercial sectors and professional

knowledge of financial reporting and general management.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to discuss the
pre-audit and review quarterly results, interim results and annual results of

the Group internal controls and risk management issues.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 14 October 2015
with its terms of reference in compliance with paragraph Bl.2 of the
Code. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Remuneration

Committee is comprised of the following members:

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip (Chairman)
(appointed on 2| October 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
Mr. Wong Foelan (Chairman)
(resigned on 21 June 2021)

Mr. Wong Foelan, Mr. Leung Tsun Ip and Mr. Fu Yan Ming are INEDs and
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was an INED for the period from | May 2021 to 18
July 2021,

With reference to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
the primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings (for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group's

website http://www.zjuv8366.com or the website of the Stock Exchange):

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year to review

the remuneration package of the Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee has been established on [4 October 2015
and the Company adopted a set of revised written terms of reference in
compliance with paragraph A5.2 of the Code which included changes in line
with the requirements of the CG Code in January 2019. During the Year
and up to the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is comprised

of the following members:

Mr. Fu Yan Ming (Chairman)
(appointed on 7 April 2022)
Mr. Zhou Ying
(removed on 30 September 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(re-designated as chairman on 30 September 202 |

ceased to be the chairman and remained as a member on 7 April 2022)

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip

(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho lvan

(appointed on 2| October 2021)

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip, Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan and Mr. FuYan Ming who are INEDs
and Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was an INED for the period from | May 2021 to
18 July 2021.
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With reference to the terms of reference the Nomination Committee,

the primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the

followings (for the complete terms of reference please refer to the Group's

website http://www. zjuv8366.com or the website of the Stock Exchange):

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the

Company's corporate strategy;

to review the Company's board diversity policy and the progress on

achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection

of individuals nominated for directorships;
to assess the independence of INEDs; and
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or

re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in

particular the chairman and the chief executive.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any

proposed candidate to the Board or reappointment of any existing

member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a

variety of factors including without limitation the following in assessing the

suitability of the proposed candidate:

a.

Reputation for integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company's business and

corporate strategy.

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board

member and other directorships and significant commitments.
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d.  Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,

professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

e.  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee may consider other factors so to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as

it considers appropriate.

The members of the Nomination Committee should meet at least once a
year. During the year ended 30 April 2022, one meeting of the Nomination
Meeting was held and has, inter alia, reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the INEDs and
considered the Directors to retire and stand for re-election at the 2021
AGM. The Nomination Committee has also reviewed the board diversity

policy as set out in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and
recommended the appointment of the new INED and change of

composition of Board Committee.

LEGAL COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Legal Compliance Committee has been established on 14 October
2015 to review the summarised key particulars of the work-related
accidents of the construction segment which was prepared by the human

resources and administrative department.
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With reference to the terms of reference of the Legal Compliance
Committee, the primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee are to
assist in overseeing our compliance with laws and regulations relevant to
our business operations and to review the effectiveness of our regulatory

compliance procedures and system.

As the work-related accidents were punctually reported and all the
accidents are covered by insurances, it was resolved that the legal
compliance committee of the Board to be dissolved with effect from 21
October 2021.

AUDITOR

On 23 June 2022, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) resigned
as the auditor of the Group and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (“Fan Chan")
has been appointed as the new auditor of the Group to fill the causal
vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners and will continue as such
until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The annual
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Fan Chan. The auditor’s responsibilities for the Group's financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 68 to

74 of the Company's 2022 Annual Report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating the external auditor of

the Group including but not limited to their independence and objectivity.

The fees of the external auditor of the Group for audit services amounted

to HK$400,000 and no non-audit services was incurred for the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Ching (“Mr. Chan"), the company secretary of the Company from
an external secretarial services provider was resigned with effect on |5 July
2021,

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (“Ms. Lai"), an executive director, has been appointed
as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 19 July 2021.

During the Year, Ms. Lai has undertaken not less than |5 hours of relevant

professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Ms. Meng Ying, a former executive Director, was the compliance officer
of the Group during the year and was removed on 30 September 2021,
Ms. Lai was appointed on 30 September 2021. Please refer to the section
“Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management” for her

biographical information.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledge that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the

risk management and internal control systems.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS
The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of

the members in the framework are described as follows:
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Member Main Responsibilities

K& B4

The Board Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature
and extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

ESE AVEREERBAER FERETENREEENAREAZORREELEE

Audit Committee

W
Bl
I

B

Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal

control systemS' and

BYRNGEEBERUNREREENARBELZS : X

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control

systems annually.

‘.:{qz AAHTH =) IE&W“BWTI%//LE']E)& |‘9LE

Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and

performance of the risk management and internal control systems;

BHEFSERRBKT ERERRAIBEER TR B RRA:

Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the
management, ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of

establishing effective systems;

HEEENREAREEMABEERS BREEBCETREARLBUNRL:

Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for

operation and has a proper position, review and supervise its performance;

HERANHEZREECHERERE YARBENMA R REREKY:

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk

management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

BHASEEGNSREARR LR EREMN  (EHABIEHRREARE

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or

improved to the Board on a regular basis;

THREEEESARENARERLARR IR TEORE:
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Member Main Responsibilities

K& B4

®  Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant

accountable persons to implement risk assessment;

o HPREBREENFG TERZEARAEANTRRIGEIE:

®  Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at

the group level;

s MHBYHFEEEMORREEBRER:

e Review material risk assessment report and various risk management

reports;

s EHEARRFERSLESERREERS:

®  Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the
decisions made or actions adopted by relevant organizations or individuals
beyond the risk management system;

o ENEARRERER HEMREZEBASIEARNERERZGAIMELRIRE
LRBETA

®  Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments
and projects to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks
at the group level, summarise and analyse such information, submit risk
assessment and various risk management reports; and

. %%ﬁ@AE@ﬁ%i%ﬂﬁﬂxﬁﬁ’MﬁE EEEME AR 85 MEHE TE
THESETELSMMNREIRABRIERZEARERRS R

e Carry out risk management for other major issues.

o HHMEAZHHTARER
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THE PROCESS USED TO IDENTIFY,ASSESS AND MANAGEMENT OF
PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows:

Risk identification -
}—LKM EEAX%J u&%” H Al EEHHE’JH R °
Risk analysis -

occurrence.

Corporate Governance Report
DEBARS

ARBE TREREEEARRNER

AEE7EREERFHEMMT

identify the current risks confronted.

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of

v HYERERBENARITETRRD N

Risk response -

strategy

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation

iz B 41 BRI E AR RS T Y R P B ) SR

Control measures —

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal

control measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response

ey i S 25 B A 1 0 42 6 i e SRR B AR
Risk control -

strategy.
Hl{Aﬁ" 70

Risk management report -

R DRI C AR R N B A 0 P B A 4 0 - DATRAR 2 B TSR B ) B OB AT

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit,

formulate and report an action plan.

5}

=
3B

EEHE BER

The Group has engaged a professional advisory firm of internal control
to perform regular review of the internal control system of the Group
for the Year and the results were summarized and reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board. The Board will continue to strive for a better
control by way of consulting with the professional adviser and adopting the

recommendations made by the firm.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the
Group's consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view. The
responsibility of Auditor in respect of the Group's consolidated financial
statements are set out in the independent auditor’s report forming part of

this annual report.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so. The Directors are aware that the net liabilities,
loss and operating cash outflow for the year ended 30 April 2022, and the
deconsolidation of the subsidiaries mentioned, which indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's

ability to continue as a going concern as referred to C.I.3 of the CG Code.

In respect of the material uncertainty related to going concern, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the
Group and implemented some measures in order to improve the working
capital, liquidity and cash flow position of the Group, details are set out in

note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Auditor draw attention to note 2.3 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$7.4 million during the year ended 30 April 2022 and, as of that date,
the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$19.5 million and HK$19.2 million respectively. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. More information is set

out in note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT
For the year ended 30 April 2022, the remuneration of the senior

management is listed below by band:

2022
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BREBAESNHH
BE-T--GMASHALEE SRERA
BHHMEREDE T

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
FmEE AE
HKS$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZEITLE 1,000,000 T 5

HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,000,001 /87T E2,000000/ 7T -

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid individuals for
the Year as regarded to be disclosed pursuant to the Code are provided in

note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge and understand their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements and to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in a manner
which reflects the true and fair view of the state of affairs, results and cash
flows of the Group and are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards and principles, applicable laws and disclosure provisions
required of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial year have

been prepared on this basis.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, there are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern after having considered
the loan facility. More information is set out in note 2.3 to the consolidated
financial statements, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going

concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of the Company's external Auditor’s responsibility in respect of
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report of this report.
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GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy to
maintain an on-going dialogue with its shareholders and investors in a
timely, open and transparent manner. The Board reviews the policy on a
regular basis to ensure effective communication between the Company, its

shareholders and investors.

The Board communicates with its shareholders and investors through
various channels. The Board meets and communicates with shareholders
and investors at annual general meetings and other general meetings.
Corporate communications (such as quarterly, interim and annual reports,
notices, circulars and announcements) are sent to shareholders in a timely
manner and are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders
Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks
fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If,
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the acquisition(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the
Company.

ERRN-REBRREEBRE

EFSCRUBRRBEBE URE AR RE
PERR IR EERFREAR -EECQRA
EHEELARR BERAQR ERRREE
EZRRBARAR-

EXORBRBREERRIREELETER
EZQ2NBRRBFASNEMKRRAE &
BREREESEEZR - ARAE RERBR
BERRENR (WFE PHRFRERE B
BRRAE)  RABFAINARAD R R8P
AURER -

RRER

ERRERTERRREAIAE
REARSe41% EFSURBARBREA
& ([BRREHAE]) -BREHKRG B~
LREZZRBRKAMFE NP RADABAER
BRRAELRENBEERA D2 —HERE
KMTABH ZRERBNEARNEZEIA
RENMARMERE UEKEZGRRRESE
B G ARRIE % & M 2K A 5 e (T 08 o
HEFENIELZBRERRK2 I HRKREARZ
Ag ARFAARREERATENBREEKX
ATREZEREARAEMELNAELE
FA °



ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%?ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂg

Procedures for Shareholders’ Nomination of Directors

Pursuant to article |13 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring
Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice
in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office of the
Company. The period for lodgment of the notices required under the
Articles will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be

given will be at least 7 days.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may direct their enquiries concerning their shareholdings to
the Company's share registrars. Shareholders may also make a request
for the Company's information to the extent that such information has
been made publicly available by the Company. All written enquiries or
requests may be forwarded to the Company's head office or by email to

info@zjuvholdings.com.

The addresses of the Company's head office and the Company's share
registrars can be found in the section “Corporate Information” of this

annual report.
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Investor Relations

To ensure transparent and comprehensive disclosures to investors, the
Group delivers information of the Group to the public through various
channels, including general meeting, public announcement and financial
reports. The investors are also able to access the latest news and

information of the Group via our website (http://www.zjuv8366.com).

In order to maintain good and effective communication, the Company
together with the Board extend their invitation to all shareholders and
encourage them to attend the forthcoming AGM and all future general

meetings.

The shareholders may also forward their enquiries and suggestions in

writing to the Company to the followings:

Address: Unit A6-D, 12/F, Block A
Hong Kong Industrial Centre
489-491 Castle Peak Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon
Email: info@zjuvholdings.com
Significant Changes in Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 30 April 2022, there was no significant changes in

the constitutional documents of the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2022
(the “Year").

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2015. Its registered office and
principal place of business are at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350 Grand Cayman KYI-1108, Cayman Islands and Unit A6-D, 12/F, Block
A, Hong Kong Industrial Centre, 489-491 Castle Peak Road, Lai Chi Kok,

Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in undertaking slope works, foundation works and other

general building works in Hong Kong.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong)
(the “Companies Ordinance”), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, environmental policies of the Group,
compliance with laws and regulations by the Group, its relationship with
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and employees and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 5 to [8 of this

annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors' report.

Further discussions on the Group's environmental policies and our
relationship with various stakeholders are covered by a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance report which will be available at the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in due course as soon as

possible.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 30 April 2022
by operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set

out on page 168 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 75.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to shareholders of

the Company for the year ended 30 April 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets of the Group during the year ended 30 April 2022 are set out in

notes 13 and |4 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 April 2022 are

set out in note |15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
The Company's total issued share capital as at 30 April 2022 was
1,577,200,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 30 April 2022 are set out in note 2| to the consolidated financial

statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group. The remunerations of the Directors are
determined with reference to the economic situation, the market condition,
the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director as well as their

individual performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in the

section headed “Share Option Scheme" of this report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the year
amounted to approximately HK$2 14,200 (202 1: HK$235,000).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As of 30 April 2022, the reserves of the Company available for distribution,
as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law Cap. 22 of Cayman
Islands, was approximately HK$Nil (2021: Nil) inclusive of share premium

and retained earnings/(accumulated losses).

Directors’ Report
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 30 April 2022 and up to the date of

this report were:

EE

REE_T__FNA=tTHLFEREBER

RERM EFWT:

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming previously as Law Ka Ming Michael BREBALE

(appointed on 5 July 2022) (RZZ__5+ARLBEZE)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Compliance Officer) RESUT (EHFHF)

(re-designated from INED to executive Director on |9 July 2021)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap
(appointed on 30 September 2021)

Mr. Zhou Ying (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Ms. Meng Ying (Compliance Officer)
(removed on 30 September 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Hui Man Ho Ivan
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Fu Yan Ming
(appointed on 2| October 2021)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy
(re-designated from INED to executive director on 19 July 2021)

Dr. Wong Foelan
(resigned on 21 June 2021)

(R=Z-_—-FtAThRA
BUFRTESREANTES)
BRI EE
(R=ZZ=-FNLA=TREZRT)
BRELE (ZTEFRITHAE)
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BUFHTES ((BUFBTEE))
RigELE
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FOERE
(RZE-—F+A=-+—HEZHT)
HEBLE
(RZE-—F+A=-+—HEZHT)
RES 4+
(R=ZE=—%tA+hABH
BUFRTESATARITES)
BEECEL
(RZBZ—FAZ+—HEHT)
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.
Information regarding directors’ emoluments is set out in note 12 to the EEFHENEN GV BHRMTI2 -

consolidated financial statements.

ARFERESBUFNTESREGEMET
RAFS 0GR EH LN FRBULIERERE -

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules has been received from each of
the INEDs.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from their respective date of appointment.
All of these service agreements may be terminated earlier by no less than

one month written notice served by either party on the other.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. Mr. Choi Pun Lap and Mr Leung Tsun Ip. will retire from office
as Directors at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves

for re-election.

Pursuant to Article |12 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after their appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Mr. Law, Michael Ka Ming will retire from office
as Director at the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, offer himself for

re-election.

Each of the executive Directors shall also be entitled to discretionary
bonus to be determined by the Board based on, among other things, the
performance of the individual Director and the overall financial position
of the Group, and is subject to the recommendation of the remuneration

committee of the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

RERKE

A.  Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, A EEREETHAERKRSD HEROR
Underlying Shares and Debentures BEINESERA
As at 30 April 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors RZB-_ZFMA=1RH ARAREER
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures KARRERAREL:E (EEEEFBE
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the BIES7 | EEERAEEN ([FEREE
meanings of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance 16011 ) EXVER) B - AR R ERE
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which BhiEAEREESFRBAEEMNEXVE
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant F7 N8 E AR E KRN T M A AR
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or HZRKRE (BEREEANBEBRNZE
short positions which any such director or chief executive is taken B G BENEEBESRSST
or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO) or which BAEBERNEEZIAER) HEAERE
were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in Fax R HEIENEI52ELR TR AN R
the register of members of the Company, or which were required, REMAERLAE B E FTEAIA
pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors as referred to the MBEBRETR 52 EEBNe RN R N
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange TS NARIT
were as follows:
(i) Company's shares held by a former director ()  FEEFENELARD
Number of
shares Percentage of
Name of former director Capacity/Nature held/interested shareholding
ey 2ol
BEN
RESHE 5/ HE R #E REES
Mr. Zhou Ying (former director and Interest of a controlled corporation 792,000,000 50.21%
removed on 30 September 2021) (Note 1)
BAELE (MEER RIEEE RS
RZEZ-—FARA=+HEEER) (BFzE1)
Note |: MizEl -

Mr. Zhou Ying beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of
Century Investment Holdings Limited, which wholly owns the shares in
United Financial Holdings Group Limited. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Ying is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the shares of the Company held
by United Financial Holdings Group Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

[B% 5% £ B # % B Century Investment
Holdings Limited® & #5 2 BT A - il
Century Investment Holdings Limitedfl| & &
BEBGEREREEARAANR
oAt REFZRIAERG] FEx
R RSB ERES S REREES
BARRENARAMERG P EEE

Ny
ZSo

I
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The shares of associated corporations held by former director (i)  BIEFEMFE R %ER D
Number of
Name of Name of shares held/ Percentage of
former director associated corporation Capacity/Nature interested shareholding
Fi/ ®E
MESHSR MR EE &8 st/ HE EEARGHE BREED
Mr. Zhou Ying United Financial Holdings Beneficial owner 1,000,000 100%
(former director Group Limited
(removed on
30 September 2021))
BELE (MESR BooRERERERAR EDZBEAA
(RZZTZ—FAA  Century Investment Interest of a controlled 100%
=TH®EER)) Holdings Limited corporation
Century Investment LB R
Holdings Limited
Note: B3 -

Mr. Zhou Ying beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of

Century Investment Holdings Limited, which wholly owns the shares in

United Financial Holdings Group Limited. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Ying is

deemed or taken to be interested in all the shares of the Company held

by United Financial Holdings Group Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Long position in the Company's Shares

None of the current Directors has any shares held/interested in

the Company for the year ended 30 April 2022 and up to the

date of the Company’s annual report.

(i)

[8 %8 5 4 B 2 % B Century Investment
Holdings Limited®) 2 &2 21T AR A - 0
Century Investment Holdings Limited |2
BREHMASRHEREEERRANR
e Bt BEEFRAEHRG BEx
R RSB ERES S REREES
RAORRENADAMEROFAEEE

s
me

RARGRG AT
BE_Z-__FMWA=THILFE
REERRAFHRTIZAE e
RAEEERARABAETARR,/
RARDEIRG PR
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B.  Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
As at 30 April 2022, the interest and short positions of the person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) or
company which was required to be recorded in the register required

to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FTERRREMALIRARS HERGR
BREBNERRAR
RZZE-_—FNA=+H ABAL (X
AAEZRERTHRABRIN KD F%E
RAREBES RREKRIIEI6HENERE
KEENB M DS EMER AR
T

Number of

shares held/ Percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature interested shareholding

Fiks/ BEER

=1 st/ & MR E REBDL
United Financial Holdings Group Limited Beneficial owner 792,000,000 (L) 50.21%
e eBEREEERAR BEaBAA
Century Investment Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 792,000,000 (L) 50.21%
Century Investment Holdings Limited XEiEER
Mr. Zhang Yan Beneficial owner 158,000,000 (L) 10.02%
RIEESEE ERBEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2022, no person, other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, had notified the Company of an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

BREXHREEN R-_T-_FNA
=tH BEAL (FRAESRERT
BABRIN ERFAOBRHN EXE
ERERITRABRKS  HERO RE
EENEDZ AR —H)ENGARAT
AR ARG SARBR D T REEAREE
HFRHERPIEIHERARAFENE
MRk A B AR ©
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of the Group's revenue and purchases attributable to

major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Directors’ Report
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FEEFRHER

IRRFPRMEREARENRERERNE

AT

2022

=]
i

2022 2021
—E-C=F —EZ—F
% %
Percentage of revenue: WaEaDt:

From the five largest customers RERAKREP 99.8 99.8
From the largest customer REZAEFP 63.4 64.9

Percentage of construction material BEMHBELY BEE

purchases and construction subcontracted: B 7Lt

From the five largest suppliers RERAHER 99.9 95.6
From the largest supplier RESAHER 46.5 45.8

To the best of the Directors' knowledge, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) has

an interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

BEEHAN HEES HETBEAL
EAARARR (BEZMA BEARAEH
TTRMSBA L) RAEBRAAREF R EET %

R R

6l
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant
to which the Company may distribute by way of (i) cash or (ii) shares as
may be determined by the board of directors of the Company from time to

time. The profit distribution policy of the Company is:

(a) Profit distribution policy of the Company shall achieve continuity,
stability and sustainability;

(b) The Company targets a payout ratio with balance on distribution
of profits and profits retained for business operation and future

development;
(c) Profit distribution of the Company shall take into account:
(i) the earnings per share of the Company;

(i) the reasonable return in investment of the investors and the
shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue

to support the Company in their long-term development;
(i) the financial conditions and business plan of the Company; and
(iv) the market sentiment and circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interests directly or indirectly subsisted at 30 April 2022 or
at any time during the year ended 30 April 2022.

REBE
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND DIRECTOR’S AND
OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles, the Directors or other officers of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which may incur in connection with the
executive of their duty provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any

matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty of the above persons.

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all
Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers
the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of

corporate activities against them.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year

ended 30 April 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than those disclosed under the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”, at no time during the
year ended 30 April 2022 were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Director or their respective close associates, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the

Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction during the
year ended 30 April 2022 which is required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules. Related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 30 April 2022, which constitute fully exempt continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules are

disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, controlling shareholders nor substantial
shareholders of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had held any position or had interest in any
businesses or companies that were or might be materially competing with
the business of the Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of

interests during the year ended 30 April 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 30
April 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on |5
October 2015 (the “Scheme). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance

with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participants and to
promote the success of the business of the Group. Eligible participants
of the share option scheme include employees (full-time and part-time),
Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,

customers, business partners or service providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme, in any |2-month period up to the

date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
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An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of an offer for
the grant of option(s) is HK$ 1. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject

to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant of the option. For the purpose of calculating the subscription price,
where the Company has been listed on the Stock Exchange for less than
five business days, the new issue price shall be used as the closing price for

any business day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing
on the date of adoption, being I5 October 2015, and shall expire at the
close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth
anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by the shareholders of the

Company in general meeting.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 0% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at |15 October 2015 (the date
of conditional adoption by the written resolutions of the then sole
Shareholder passed on |5 October 2015). On the basis of [,440,000,000
ordinary shares in issue as at |5 October 2015, the maximum number
of ordinary shares available for issue under the Scheme is equivalent to
144,000,000 Shares, representing 9.13% of the ordinary shares in issue as at
30 April 2022 and as at the date of publication of the 2022 Annual Report.

2022

Directors’ Report

EEE®RE

EHBEREORORNEHERZOBE (B
ZH)ELERENBREARABRERR
AR EROBBERARR BT A
AFTREZ SR BRI MAR - BN RIEZTE
MERITERERE HERERASRERLA
MR+ WX ARRRR AT LSRR -

R IRk AT 81 R AV E R R R SRR
EHEFesEETIANZEE BMEER
TH&RRE (RO NERER D AH (LER
2XR)RBRABERERMBUMHE: ()X
DREERBRERLAHMAEZRBAER
FERRERAROTFIRTE: RiRNNE
BERH A EE EE EREEME M
ARAIREL AN LR SR EEEER -
FTERBERLTATHREA 2% B NS
o

ZEtE RN MRS (-2 -1F+tA+h
B)Es TR RIFERRAG LERD
AICRIER AL BRIRE R B8R TR
FR—EEXANEXREEREER-

BEZ e REBERENRSRH BTG
BARERZZE-—RF+ATHA (EKE—R
BRER-Z-AFTATHABRNERRZER
BEGHEMNZB)EBTRARNI0% - REE
“T-RAF+A+RABEETI 4400000008
LBREE  BEZGTETHETN T AR
HEHER 14400000080 HR ===
EMA=+RAR-E-_—EFEREHIADE
TERRED.13% °

65



66

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Directors’ Report

EEZERE

On 23 September 2019, the Company has granted share options under
the Scheme to certain eligible grantees which, subject to acceptance by
the grantees, will enable the grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of
60,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company as stated in the announcement of the Company
dated 23 September 2019. The closing price of the securities immediately
before the date on which the options were granted was HK$0.29. As at 30
April 2022, there were no options outstanding in relation to the grant of

share options on 23 September 2019 under the Scheme.

No share options was granted during the year ended 30 April 2022.

Details of the share option for the Year as regarded are provided in note 27

to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during the
Year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures

of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Details are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements in

this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on information that is
publicly available to the Company, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as of the date of this annual report as required under the GEM

Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

On 23 June 2022, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) resigned as
the auditor of the Group and Fan, Chan & Co. Limited (“Fan Chan™) has
been appointed as the new auditor of the Group to fill the causal vacancy
following the resignation of Elite Partners and will continue as such until the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Fan Chan and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for each of the two years ended 30 April 2021 and 2020 were
audited by Elite Partners. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting of the Company to reappoint Fan Chan as auditor

of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited
Lai Pik Chi Peggy

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 July 2022
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SRS ER AT A MR 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the members of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Zhejiang
United Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group') set out on pages 75 to
67, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 April 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements and as to
whether the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

As stated in the auditor's report issued by the auditor of the Group for the
year ended 30 April 2021 (the “Predecessor Auditor”):

*

The existing executive directors of the Company were re-designated
or appointed on 19 July 2021 and 30 September 2021 and all the
existing independent non-executive directors of the Company were
appointed on 21 October 2021.The current board of directors of the
Company (the “Current Board") was formed on 21 October 2021
after the removal of Mr. Zhou Ying (“Mr. Zhou") as executive director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the board of the directors of
the Company, and Ms. Meng Ying (“Ms. Meng") as executive director
and compliance officer of the Company on 30 September 2021.

The Company had been unable to contact Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng
since 22 July 2021. Mr. Zhou was also the legal representative of
Zhejiang Zhong Chun Wenhua Keji Limited* (372 XL #}
KABERAA) (formerly known as MTHFEZFZERARA), a
direct wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the People's Republic
of China (the "PRC"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan Guanli Limited* (3
TESEEEERBBRARF),
incorporated in the PRC, and Zhejiang Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun
Jishu Limited* (HTI¥ESEREBARMABER A, an indirect

non-wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC (collectively

an indirect wholly owned subsidiary

referred as the “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”).

Since Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were the senior management and main
contact persons of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Company was
experiencing difficulties in reaching the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
and obtaining their financial information for the purpose of preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 April 2021.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

*

On 27 August 2021, the Company appointed a legal adviser (the
“PRC Legal Adviser) to conduct investigation on the status of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr Zhou and Ms. Meng in the PRC.
The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Adviser that the
investigation on the status of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr.
Zhou and Ms. Meng were completed on |3 October 2021. There
were indications that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were suspected of
illegal absorption of public deposits under the operation of Zhejiang
United Small and Medium Enterprises Holdings Group., Ltd* (i
THERNEREREEBERQA),
and operated in the PRC of which Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were the

a company incorporated

ultimate shareholders and not a subsidiary within the Group, which
were under formal investigation. On 21 July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng were held in custody and on 26 August 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng were officially arrested by the PRC authorities.

The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit in September 202
to the registered offices and principal places of business of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. It found that the respective registered
offices and principal places of business of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries were either empty or occupied by other parties. The PRC
Legal Adviser made enquiry to the relevant government authorities
and found that no other business addresses were registered by the

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the officers of the
principal banks of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, which the officers
of the respective principal banks responded that the details and status
of the bank accounts of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries could only be
accessed by their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal
representatives of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were unable to be

contacted during the investigation.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Up to the date of the auditor’s report, the Company has not received
any official documentation from the Ministry of Public Security of the
PRC nor any relevant departments of the PRC government indicating
that any of the Company or the companies within the Group was

involved in the case that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were being arrested.

The Current Board has been unable to have access to the books
and records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. In the opinion of the
Current Board, the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 30 April 2021, which were prepared on the basis that
the deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was deemed
to be effective on | May 2020 (the "Deconsolidation”), presented
more fairly the results, state of affairs and cash flows of the Group
as a whole in light of the incomplete books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries available to the Company. Accordingly,
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were deconsolidated from the
consolidated financial statements of the Group from | May 2020

onwards.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

The de-consolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries resulted in a
loss on de-consolidation of approximately HK$23,575,000 recognised in
consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 30 April 2021, details of
which are disclosed in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.
The de-consolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries with effect from
I May 2020 also resulted in the exclusion of the assets, liabilities, revenue,
income, expenses, and cash flows of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended
30 April 2022 and 2021. In accordance with the requirements of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard (“HKFRS") 10 “Consolidated Financial
Statements”, all subsidiaries controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries
are required to be included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The facts and circumstances described above do not show that the
Group had lost control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries with effect
from | May 2020. Further, as disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were disposed by
the Group on 29 April 2022. Under HKFRS 10, the Company should
have consolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries in its consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021 up until
the date of loss of control over these entities. Had the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries been consolidated up until 29 April 2022, many elements in
the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 30 April 2022
and 2021 would have been materially affected, and in addition, the loss on
the disposal of subsidiaries that occurred on 29 April 2022 and recognised
in consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 30 April 2022 would be
determined based on the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as at 29 April 2022. However, due to
the facts and circumstances as stated above, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to enable us to assess the
effects of the matters to which the Deconsolidation relate. Accordingly,
the effects on the consolidated financial statements of these matters
could not be determined. Any adjustments that would be required may
have consequential significant effects on the assets and liabilities of the
Group presented in its consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 April 2021 and the revenue, income, expenses and cash flows of the
Group presented in its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021 and related elements and disclosures

thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
states that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$7,364,000 for
the year ended 30 April 2022 and as at 30 April 2022, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$19,520,000 and
HK$19,218,000 respectively. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty
exist which may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. The directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on going concern basis, as the current
holding company of the Company has confirmed that it will provide financial
support to the Group up to the amount of HK$36,000,000 to enable the
Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the future period
up to 31 January 2024. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this

matter.

OTHER MATTER
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
April 2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed a disclaimer

of opinion on those statements in its auditor's report dated 30 November
2021.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor's report. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. However, because of the matters described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion

on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin
Practising Certificate Number P03702

Hong Kong, 29 July 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBmREMEE KSR
For the year ended 30 April 2022
HE-Z-_—_FOA=+RALFE
2022 2021
—8-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i it T
Revenue & 5 133,305 110,123
Direct costs BEAAK (131,451) (108,666)
Gross profit EF 1,854 1,457
Other income and other net loss H AU A Jo B At B 18 % 2R 6 868 1,269
Administrative expenses THAX (9,538) (14,971)
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIEEEANERBRRNERE  230b) = (23,575)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBAREE 24 (185) -
Impairment loss on financial assets TREENESSE 8(b) (76) (57,539)
Finance costs BEMKR 7 (287) ()
Loss before taxation BREATEE 8 (7,364) (93,360)
Income tax expense FETRAX 9 - -
Loss for the year FERBE (7,364) (93,360)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHM2E
for the year, net of tax WA/ (BAX) NBRBE
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEWHEEN 82
profit or loss: BEMNIER:
— Release of reserves upon — BRIt ARHREL
deconsolidation of subsidiaries AR HE = 2,205
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the FEHM2ME (BixX) KA
year (7,364) 2,205
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEXHMAXAE (7,364) (91,155)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTREREFEBR:
Owners of the Company ARAEEA (7,364) (93,360)
Non-controlling interests R = -
(7,364) (93,360)
Total comprehensive expense for the year UTEEREEE2E
attributable to: X8
Owners of the Company ARREEA (7,364) (91,190)
Non-controlling interests FERER = 35
(7,364) (91,155)
Loss per share for loss attributable to AREHEE ARG HK cents 7L HK cents /&Il
owners of the Company BENERESR
Basic and diluted EAREHS || (0.47) (5.92)
The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. MR e MBERER—Hn-
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e AR R &
As at 30 April 2022
NZZZZFWMA=+H

2022 2021
—E-C TR —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B sE TERT TET
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment ER TS 13 302 756
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 = -
302 756

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A e K1 16 16,512 14,338
Contract assets BREE |7 9,500 9,617
Tax recoverable BEEEE 278 278
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBeEED 18 44,770 25,183
71,060 49416

Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B5LEMENTRIE 19 85,574 61,992
Borrowings BE 20 4,969 -
Tax payable e IR 37 34
90,580 62,026
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR R

As at 30 April 2022

N\_E-__FWOA=+H

2022 2021

—E-C —E-—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B EE THER TERL

Net current liabilities REBEERE (19,520) (12,610)
Net liabilities BEFE (19,218) (11,854)

Capital and reserves RAER 6

Share capital BRA 21 15,772 15,772
Reserves R (34,990) (27,626)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 &% 5 AL (19,218) (11,854)
Non-controlling interests FERER - -
Total equity ERAE (19,218) (11,854)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for AU RER - E-_—F+A-+HEE
issue by the board of directors on 29 July 2022 and are signed on its behalf —~ FBEHERKETE Wil THEFALEE:

by:

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy

Director

Mr. Choi Pun Lap REZLZT A
Director EZ EE

VePN

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. M RGeMBREAET 9.
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mEEmEER

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARBARS
Share-
based Non-
Share Share  payment Merger  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium*  reserve®  reserve®  reserve® losses*  Sub-total interests  Total equity
BRBA
EBM
Ra  REEE: GREE AHEE EXRE RAER M OFBREE  RREE
HK§'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tén fEx fEx fEx TEx TER  TER TR TEx
(note 21) (notea)  (noteb)  (notec)
(W20 (Wia)  (Wakb) (M)
Asat | May 2020 “Z-Z£RA-H 15772 7,131 7962 18,001 Q170 (32360 79336 (2003) 71333
Loss for the year EEEET,\ - - - - - (93360)  (93,360) - (93,360)
Other comprehensive expense B2 ERX
for the year
~ Release of reserves upon -BIHFE ARNEA
deconsolidation of BERER
subsidiaries - - - - 2170 - 2170 3 2205
Total comprehensive expense ~ FE2EARXEE
for the year - - - - 2170 (93360)  (91,190) 3 (91,155)
Adjustment upon deconsolidation Mi?é/\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg“ﬂz
of Deconsoldated Subsidiaries £ 1E48 \E {4 5% - - - - - - - 1968 1968
As at 30 April 2021 and RZEZ-MA=TH
| May 2022 RZEZZ%nA-H 15772 7,131 7962 18,001 - (15000 (1185 - (11854)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - (7364)  (7.364) - (7.364)
Other comprehensive expense A2 ERX
for the year
- Exchange differences on -REBNEBY
translating foreign EiEE
operations - - - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive expense ERIERXEE
for the year - - - - (7,364) (7364) - (7364)
Forfeiture of vested share options R B HEEMRE - - (7.962) - - 7962 - - -
At 30 April 2022 RZB-Z§¥MA=1H 15,772 n13l - 18,001 - (12502 (19.218) - (19.218)
* The total amounts of these balances represent “Reserves” in the consolidated * DEERERIRRAMTEAMR R GG

statement of financial position.
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2022

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Notes:

(@)

(b)

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of services estimated
to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over
the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of
the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined
by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting
period (if any) and is recognised as staff costs and related expenses with a

corresponding increase in the share-based payment reserve.

Merger reserve represents the difference between the share capital issued by
the Company for acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant to a reorganisation
for the listing and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being acquired at

the time of the reorganisation.

Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation
of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional
currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar
("HK$")) and are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the

foreign operations.

@

AN
TREERE K
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_Z-_—FUA=THLHFE

MR in AERIN R REAENERRE AR
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B BRI REBRENR T B RN FE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

VAN ==
mERERER
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Uik THER TERT
Operating activities ReED
Loss before taxation BriGATEE (7,364) (93,360)
Adjustments for: FHE
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERREBE
equipment - |
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% BB kX ERITE 423 575
Depreciation of right-of-use asset EREEENTE - 6
Finance costs - 287 |
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BitEa NERBELRNER - 23575
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 185 -
Impairment on trade and other receivables B 5 KA MW IE R A 77 13,687
Reversal of Impairment loss on contract assets &[4 4 & ERFEFE (1) (36)
Impairment loss on an amount due from B —R& LERE AR
a deconsolidated subsidiary MELRFERESSE - 43,888
Operating cash flows before movements LEECEDANLERENE
in working capital (6,393) (11,663)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other BHREMEKZE (M), B
receivables (2,772) ['1,606
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 118 3,597
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 & H b B 5B N,/ (F D) 1,481 (7,891
Cash used in operations REMmARS (7,566) (4,351)
Income tax refunded/(paid), net RE/(BR)MER 38 3 (453)
Net cash used in operating activities BETHMAREFE (7,563) (4,804)
Investing activities REED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BELR - (16)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of BIEGEARMBRAEENRERL 23(b)
subsidiaries ek - (433)
Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAREE 2R ERLFE 24 (14) -
Net cash used in investing activities REZE L2 F5 (14) (449)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nIT\ Iﬁzﬁljlbi%‘%

For the year ended 30 April 2022
HEZZ-__FNA=THLEHFE

2022 2021
—8-= T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Uik TR TERT
Financing activities MEED

Advances from former directors KERESNEK 982 3,733
Repayment to former directors MATEEER (300) -
Proceeds from borrowings EEMEHE 4,682 -

Advance from/(repayment to) a director of RE—HNBAR—REENRR/

a subsidiary (M—ENEAR—REFER) 21,800 (10,700)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEMERRE - 4
Interest paid ERFE - (1
Net cash generated from/(used in) BE B (FTH) Bz F8E

financing activities 27,164 (6,972)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash REeRBEEENEN/ (RD)FE

equivalents 19,587 (12,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of ~ FHIi & RE 2 ZEY

year 25,183 37,408
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year FRESRELEEY

represented by cash and cash equivalents AReRREEED 44,770 25,183

The notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. M RGeMBREAT 5.

8l —
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R WARMEE
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BHE_Z-_—FUOUA=F+RHLFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 20 May 2015 as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares have been
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange') on 2 November 2015. During the years ended 30
April 2022 and 2021, the immediate and ultimate holding companies
of the Company were United Financial Holdings Group Limited
(“United Financial Holdings™) and Century Investment Holdings Limited
(“Century Investment”), respectively. United Financial Holdings was
incorporated in Hong Kong and held 50.21% of issued shares of the
Company. United Financial Holdings was 100% owned by Century
Investment, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
wholly owned by Mr. Zhou Ying (“Mr. Zhou"). On 28 July 2022, Emperor
Securities Limited (“Emperor Securities”), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong and indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
Capital Group Limited, has taken enforcement action (“Enforcement
Action™) in accordance with the terms of the facilities agreements
entered into between United Financial Holdings as borrower, Mr. Zhou
as guarantor and Emperor Securities as lender and a share charge in
respect of 792,000,000 shares of the Company (“Charged Shares”)
between United Financial Holdings and Emperor Securities. As a result
of the Enforcement Action, United Financial Holdings no longer held
the Charged Shares and has ceased to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company. The directors of the Company consider that the
immediate holding company of the Company is Emperor Securities,
the intermediate holding company of the Company is Emperor Capital
Group Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code 717 while the Company's ultimate holding company is, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, Albert Yeung Capital
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

—kR&E#H
MIBEREEREEFERAR ([A
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X)) GEMEm -BE-T-_FR=
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BEERBREZRARADFIABA SR
EREBRERLA (A2 REK])
K Century Investment Holdings Limited
([ Century Investment ] ) < B & & Bl 1% X
REBEMAL HEALAZETR
789502 1% < Bt & & B % IR B Century
Investment# B 1 00%# 2 * Century
Investment/B A7 £ B & s i X LA
A HARLE ([AXLE]) 2EHF-R
“ECCHRLACTN\ROREER (B
BIERRA ([RERF]) (—ARE
BEMKLZ ARIRAREBFEEER
RAIZEEZEMBLR) ERERAS S
RIER (ERERA) » BRE (ERER
N RREFES ERERA)FILZBE
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2 i 5t792,000,000B A2 AR A ([
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‘XAl B Albert Yeung Capital Holdings Limited
(—HREBRZESEMRLZERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The address of the registered office of the Company is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KYI-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the Company
has been changed from Unit 511, 5/F Concordia Plaza, | Science
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Hong Kong to Unit A6-D, |2th floon,
Block A, Hong Kong Industrial Centre, 489-491 Castle Peak Road,
Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong with effect from 23 March 2022.
The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group™) are principally engaged in undertaking slope
works, foundation works and other general building works in Hong

Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands

("HK$'000"), except when otherwise indicated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1  Statement of compliance
These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA™) and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules™).

2.2 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on

the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

e R R

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_Z-_—FUA=THLHFE
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Regatta Office Park, PO Box |350, Grand
Cayman KY-1108, Cayman lslands ° A3
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

22

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in

use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can

access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level I, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$7,364,000
(2021: HK$93,360,000) and a net operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$7,563,000 (2021: HK$4,804,000) for the
year ended 30 April 2022 and, as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$19,520,000 (2021: HK$12,610,000) and HK$19,218,000
(2021: HK$11,854,000) respectively. Those conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant

doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) adopted the
going concern basis in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements and implemented the following measures in order to
improve the working capital and liquidity and cash flow position

of the Group:
(1) Financial support from holding company

The holding company of the Company, Emperor Securities,
has confirmed that it will provide financial support to the
Group up to the amount of HK$36,000,000 to enable the
Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for
the future period up to 31 January 2024.

(2)  Alternative source of funding

The Group is actively considering to raise new capital by
carrying out fund raising activities including but not limited
up to rights issue, open offer, placing of new shares and

issuance of convertible note.
(3)  Various cost control measures
The Directors plan to improve the Group ‘s financial

performance by taking steps to reduce discretionary

expenses and administrative costs.

mEMBWRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_Z-_—FUA=THLHFE
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

24

Going concern basis (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, in light of the various measures/
arrangements implemented, the Group will have sufficient working
capital for its current requirements and it is reasonable to expect
the Group to remain a commercially viable concern. Accordingly,
the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a going
concern, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business. Adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any future liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial

statements.

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

All the existing executive directors of the Company were re-
designated or appointed on 19 July 2021 and 30 September
2021 and all the existing independent non-executive directors of
the Company were appointed on 21 October 2021.The current
board of directors of the Company (the “Current Board” or the
“Board”) was formed on 21 October 2021| after removing Mr.
Zhou as executive director, chief executive officer and chairman
of the board of the directors of the Company, and Ms. Meng
Ying (“Ms. Meng") as executive director and compliance officer
of the Company on 30 September 2021, and re-designation and
resignation of former independent non-executive directors (the

“Former Board").

The Former Board has been unable to contact Mr. Zhou and
Ms. Meng since 22 July 2021. The Company tried to contact
Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng including residence visits, by email, by
telephones and by other telecommunication means but has not

been successful.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Mr. Zhou is also the legal representative of Zhejiang Zhong
Chun Wenhua Keji Limited* (/IR ZXEREERAD )
(Formerly known as MIIIHFEHERRDR]) (“Zhejiang Zhong
Chun"), a direct wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Zhejiang Fu Lian Zichan
Guanli Limited* (ML ZEEEEEEMRAA]) (“Zhejiang Fu Lian"),
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC
and Zhejiang Xin Lian Hengi Tongxun Jishu Limited* (/T #7Ef 18
HBHAEMABRAR) (“Zhejiang Xin Lian™), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC (collectively referred

as the “"Deconsolidated Subsidiaries™).

Since Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the senior management
and main contact persons of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
the Company is experiencing difficulties in reaching the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, for obtaining their latest financial
information for the purpose of preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April
2022 and 2021.

On 27 August 2021, the Company has appointed legal adviser
(the "PRC Legal Adviser") to conduct investigation work on
the status of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng in the PRC.

The Company has been reported by the PRC Legal Adviser
that the investigation on the status of the Deconsolidation
Subsidiaries. Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were completed on |3

October 2021 and the key findings are as follows:

For identification purpose only
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*

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

D)

2)

3)

The PRC Legal Adviser has made enquiry to the branch
office of the Hangzhou Public Security Bureau®* (FJl 12
ZRMEEDR) (the “Bureau”) and it indicated that Mr
Zhou and Ms. Meng were suspected of illegal absorption
of public deposits under the operation of Zhejiang United
Small and Medium Enterprises Holdings Group., Ltd* (47/T
BAEPNEEFREBEBRAF (“Zhejiang United SME™), a
company incorporated and operated in the PRC of which
by Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng are the ultimate shareholders
and not a subsidiary within the Group), which were under
a formal investigation. On 21 July 2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms.
Meng were held in custody by the Bureau. On 26 August
2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially arrested by
People's Procuratorate of Gongshu District, Hangzhou
in the PRC. The Bureau has published a press release in

relation to their arrest on 27 August 2021.

The PRC Legal Adviser conducted on-site visit in
September 2021 to the registered offices and principal
places of business of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries. It
found that the respective registered offices and principal
places of business of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
were either empty or occupied by other parties. The PRC
Legal Adviser made enquiry to the relevant government
authorities and found that no other business addresses
were registered by the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries.

The PRC Legal Adviser also made enquiry to the officers
of the principal banks of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
which the officers of the respective principal banks
responded that the details and status of the bank accounts
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries could only be accessed
by their legal representatives or their delegate. All the legal
representatives of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were

unable to be contacted during the investigation.

For identification purpose only
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)
The Company has appointed the PRC Legal Adviser to attempt
resuming control on the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the
Company faced serious obstacles. The report of the PRC Legal
Adviser indicating the Company that:

()  replacement of the seal (AE) of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries (the “Seal”) requires the signatures of its
legal representative of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
however the legal representative namely Mr. Zhou whom
the Company has been unable to contact since 22 July
2021, Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng were officially arrested by
People's Procuratorate of Gongshu District, Hangzhou
on 26 August 2022 and the Bureau has published a press

release in relation to their arrest on 27 August 2021;

(i) change of legal representative requires the Seal; and

(i) the Company is not able to regain control of the

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as mention above (i) and (ii).

Based on the report from the PRC Legal Adviser, the
Board concluded that the resumption of the control of the

Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was not able to be done.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Continued)

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has not received any official
documentation from the Ministry of Public Security of the
PRC nor any relevant departments from the PRC government
indicating any of the Company or the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries are involved in the case that Mr. Zhou and Ms. Meng

were being arrested.

The Company has been unable to access the books and records
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries for the purpose of preparing
the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 30
April 2022 and 2021. The Directors concluded that the Group
has lost control over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries and
deconsolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries with effect from
I May 2020.

The management are of the view that the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the years ended 30 April 2022
and 2021 prepared on the basis that the deconsolidation of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was deemed to be effective on |
May 2020 (the “Deconsolidation”) presented more fairly the
results, state of affairs and cash flows of the Group as a whole
in light of incomplete books and records of the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries.

Further details of the Deconsolidation are set out in note 23 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

25

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

®  has power over the investee;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

®  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

25

2.6

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate

share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

asset.

Depreciation on other assets is provided to write off the cost
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using

the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and estimated
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end

of each reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date
or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both leasehold
land and non-lease building components, unless such allocation

cannot be made reliably.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the

portfolio.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises that have a lease term of |2 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are

recognised as expense on a straight-line basis.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

¢ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

® any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

EXEBRBE (&)

27 HE (&)
FEBEREEA
KREIBESVARED

HRes-—RHEEAKES K&
AZREIMEEIOFREAR D
ZEK AEEREBEBREAKED
RS EBERLIFHEAKRED
ZEBER (BRUBMEREE
ZEH BREELHEFEER
FHRAED  BRIEFED MﬂiT
S B)BNBANRENEE
(B eiE:5)

ERFITTREN % BBERUEE
ZHERTKESERPAHERS
MBRELFERTEREANE
FIMEHREAZRRHRAEAEE
N T

HHEE

AEEHE LM AHES 2 EHA
TEASUTEEFBREEBER
BREZRAENEEERAEHHA
ERRHe RHHEE 2 HEMNK
TRERNRERERA /X -

EREEE
EREEEZKARSR:

s HERBZMRHESR:

o AEBEAZEMNREE
PXAS ©

EREEERKATE AT
ZAMERAESR YHHEER
B EFEHFEETHE



FIBAREZEREEERAL T
2022 & 8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract (Continued)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item

on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-

substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of

reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of

the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-

use asset.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment

loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (the “CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication
that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

28

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not

been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of the assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a settlement date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market

place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets

or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

()

the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the

asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and
other receivables, contract assets and bank balances), which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in

credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast

of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/or

collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument's external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability

to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor; or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay

its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default

criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(V)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

(c) the lender (s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.

Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with

the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are

grouped on the following basis:

° Past-due status;

*  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated

based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amounts, with the exception of trade receivables
and contract assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised

in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

29

2.10

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (including trade
and other payables, amount due to a director of a subsidiary and
amounts due to former directors) are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of

the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period

and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (Continued)

2.11

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do
not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered

contingent assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred

to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service that is distinct or

a series of distinct services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of the relevant performance obligation.

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the

Group performs;

. the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed

to date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1l Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Construction contracts

Revenue mainly arises from the provision of performing slope

works and foundation works in Hong Kong.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows

a 5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer
2. ldentifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance

obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)

are satisfied
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a
contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third

parties.

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over time
as the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that

the customer controls.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring control

of services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will

be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the

variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of the
reporting period and the changes in circumstances during the

reporting period.

e R R

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_Z-_—FUA=THLHFE

BEXEHHEHRE (&)
211 BFEHWE (&)

RETBBRT AHBRHEBES
BEHEBINEENEE EE%
B -GN FETRERES
AWEE 2

REANMBRBEAEBERTR
BIRYRAEPENNEEMRER
A2 o

TREORBHOEERREBE L
FEE ELERBREBLS/LE
BiEPHMRBALEN GO A
MR R IRTE ) B E M BT B
RBUA BRRERVAEENEZ
PRI B 5% o

“ﬁF
HRBEENERENEN £5E
ﬁ%uﬁ@fﬁ&&urﬁ*
SHEEHEARESNRESSE.
BURRBE A AR i TR A LR
BREESHRESE-

“ﬁFMﬁﬁ@%@EMT%%
HEARSER NEAR
FV?EKT NS EHHEKE
TAZKRENTETRZESRR
Ship QN F:EE

REREHR FREEHBER
HE®% (81 ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁT“ﬁ
BHEFAREEZBRN) NEE
%mi%%iﬁﬁmlﬁM&%
REBAZFERBEENE -

109



—| 10 ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
- 2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R WARMEE
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BHE_Z-_—FUOUA=F+RHLFE

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEXRGTHHEHE(£)
2.12 Employee benefits 2.12 EEER

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined

contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the

employees’ basic salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage

contributions payable.

The employees of the Company's subsidiaries which operate
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") are required
to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the

central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by

employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and

maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in

a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.,e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
expense and accumulated in equity under the heading of

exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the

Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the

equity instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the
fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately

to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share-based payment reserve

will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

2.17

2.18

Income taxes (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes

levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Government grant
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they

become receivable.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM")
for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group's
business components for their review of the performance of

those components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a

party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
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For the year ended 30 April 2022

#H=

2.

ZEZ_FMA=1+RHIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Related parties (Continued)
(Continued)

(®)

v)

(Vi)

(vii)

(vii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group (if the Group is itself
such a plan) and the sponsoring employers are also

related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent

of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or

obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless of

whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBRRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS 3. ERAFTREBITEENBEREE
8l
3.1  Amendments to HKFRSs that are effective for the current year 3. AEEAENMNLBITEBMERE
%8
In the current year, the Group has applied the following RAFE AEBEEBERERUT
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, EEemoeBEh RS-~
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning FRA-BERENFELSHE
on or after | May 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated B E MBI EAT KRS E
financial statements: 8 WiRBG AT BHK:
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark BRMGRERN  MEEER
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS Reform — Phase 2 RO -BEEH  E-FC
4 and HKFRS 16 EREH -BE  BR
BB mEER

R BRHH
EERF4RR

BRI EREER
EAISACHES
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid- 19-Related Rent BERBHRELEA  Covid-19188
Concessions F16% (BETK) fHeE
=
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent EEMgnEE —T--F
Concessions beyond 30 June F165% (BT K) NA=T
2021 A%
Covid-1948
ErEokiEk

EE

17—
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A VBRI
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS
(Continued)

3.1

32

Amendments to HKFRSs that are effective for the current year

(Continued)

The initial application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the

current year has had no material effect on the amounts

reported in these consolidated financial statements and/or

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

for the current accounting period. The Group has already

commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and

amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state

whether these new and amendments to HKFRSs would have a

material impact on its results of operations and financial position:

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts and the
Related Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to
the Conceptual framework

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Amendments to HKAS |, Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after

| January 2023

| January 2022

To be determined

| January 2023

ERAFIREEIEEMBREE

A
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3.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSS

(Continued)

3.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
Amendments to HKAS | and HKFRS | January 2023

Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of | January 2023
Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax | January 2023

related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant | January 2022
and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous | January 2022
Contacts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs. Annual | January 2022
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

REVBRRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE
BRFIREETERMBREE
Al (&)
32 CEMERREMNHETREER
BEMBREER (F)

SEeHENEEREE  CIoTh
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For the year ended 30 April 2022

#H=

4.

—E--_FNMA=t+HLEE

CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Revenue recognition for construction contract

The management recognise revenue from construction contract
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of direct measurement of the value of construction work
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining
construction works promised to be completed under the
construction contract. Most construction works take years
to complete and the scope of work may change during the
construction period. Management estimate the revenue and
budgeted costs at the commencement of the construction
contracts and regularly assess the progress of construction
works as well as the financial impact of scope changes, claims,
disputes and liquidation damages. The management's estimate
of revenue and the completion status of construction works
requires significant judgement and has a significant impact on
the amount and timing of revenue recognised. The construction
works performed by the Group would be certified by the
independent quantity surveyors appointed by the customers
periodically. The Group regularly reviews and revises the
estimation of contract revenue prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses based on the internal
construction progress reports and the certification issued by the

independent quantity surveyors.

Estimation of impairment of trade and other receivables, contract
assets and other financial assets

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL
(including trade and other receivables, contract assets and
bank balances) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period as set out in note 2.9. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables and contract assets at
the end of the reporting period is set out in notes 16 and 17 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2022 & 8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBRRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_F__FMA=1tHLEE

K@EKk o HEH

AREREARBROWRSET :

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THET
Types of service FR 7% %8 Bl
Slope works N TiE 133,049 110,029
Foundation works WETIE 256 94
Revenue from contracts with customers BEFA KR 133,305 [10,123
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET
Timing of recognition of revenue B & Y R
On over time basis R b e 8 A 133,305 110,123
Remaining performance obligations BRITENERE

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in

the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or

partially unsatisfied) as at 30 April 2022 and 2021:

TREFIEHERERBEEAR T =
FR-ZF-FOHA=TRRHARET (K

B HAKET) 2 BOREM R

2022 2021
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET

Remaining performance obligations BEBIZBRTRAOAR

expected to be satisfied

within | year —FR 189,418 55,840
more than | year but less than 2 years —E HEMFR 170,415 -
more than 2 years but less than 3 years MENEEB=FRA 136,720 -
more than 3 years but less than 4 years “FNEEMRFR 40,239 -
536,792 55,840
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information

The Group has determined the operating segments based on the
information reported to the CODM. During the year, the CODM
regards the Group's business of performing slope works and
foundation works in Hong Kong as a single operating unit and assesses
the operating performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole. Accordingly, the Group has one operating segment only

and hence no segment information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by geographical segment
is presented as the Group's revenue and non-current assets are
principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is Hong

Kong, based on location of operations and assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to 0%

or more of the Group's total revenue, is set out below:

K@Kk o HEH (&)

2 HEH

AEBEERAT %%a%ﬁ%fﬁm
éﬂ#mmMﬁ%°¢W BRERK
ERAGERBBETREIREE
TROXBRAE KL B WFHL
BRARDEASEERER Rt K
SEEE-ERENH RALE2FIEE
DEEFLe

i EH
HRARENRERFRDEETRR
RE—wEEE (HEE) SLERE
FHEREEMF RIS HEDH
DEBRIBL DM

AHIREFNESR
KEBTBERP (HARSEANE 0%
WE) R s T -

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER TET

Customer A BPA 84,499 71,432
Customer B XFB 32,431 15,856
Customer C BFPC N/A 38 A 14,779

N/A: Revenue from the customer during the year did not contribute 10% or

more of the Group's revenue.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 0% or more

to the Group's revenue for both years.

TER: FARBZBPHRETRAER
WEE10% o

BREXFREEN BEE R PRRE
FENAAEETHEN 0% A EHE -
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
HEZZ-__FNA=THLEHFE

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET LOSS 6. HiWMAREMERFHE
2022 2021
—E-=F —E2-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx TET
Other income Hipg A
Government grants (Note) AT RE A (I EE) = 1,270
Gain from disposal of construction project HERSEEERE 2 WaE
equipment 660 -
Compensation from sub-contractor NEEEE 238 -
898 1,270
Other net loss Hit&EFE
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BER
and equipment REHOEE - ()
Penalty under Employment Support Scheme Bt R&MEIE T 2 83 (30) -
(30) ("
868 1,269
Note: During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group recognised COVID- fiz: REBE-Z-—FEA=THILFE
I9-related government grants of approximately HK$1,270,000 related B AEERZAEBENTRE
to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Special BRFMEESRENERE T ETE
Administrative Region Government under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. BB COVID- 1 948 B8 BT 4 B A
There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached B%1,270,000/8 7T UL S M
to the receipts of those subsidies. BRI RER R S A E
FINANCE COSTS 7. BWERX
2022 2021
—B-CfF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Interest on lease liabilities MERERNE = |
Interest on borrowings EEFIE 287 -

287
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Bt R ¥R AR BT R

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

8.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

8. KR¥iAESE
BRAEEEMR (GTA)UTER:

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ @ BIRAK (BEEZHMH
emoluments (note 12(a)) (MizE12@)) )
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IBRHEMEN 5,362 7,064
Retirement benefit schemes contribution RBMET B 176 193
5,538 7,257
(b) Other items (b) HAEE
Auditor’s remuneration 1285 6 7 B 400 680
— Audit service - &GRS 400 650
— Non-audit service —FEGRG = 30
Depreciation charge: TEXH
— owned property, plant equipment -BEYME  BE R 423 575
— right-of-use assets -REEE - 6
423 581
Impairment loss on financial assets under BRERHEEEEEA®R
expected credit loss model, HeREERBESE"
net of reversal MER#EE 76 57,539
—Trade and other receivables -8B 5 R EMERFIE 77 13,687
— Contract assets —BHEE (1 (36)
— Amount due from — R RS AR
a deconsolidated subsidiary Uil UNGIE 8- - 43,888
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BERRBER
equipment - |
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BitEa AR BRRINER = 23,575
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBR RN ER 185 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases FRREEENRS 446 2,113
Subcontracting charges AEHRX
(included in direct costs) (FFAEEMA) 131,451 108,429
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBEHHAX
2022 2021
—E-—&F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER TET
Hong Kong Profits Tax: BBENGEHR:
Current year AEE - -
Notes: Bzt
0] Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the Group (i) RERSHERIEEN  REERH

is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of a qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

For the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021, Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in accordance with the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other group entities
in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong
Kong Profit Tax was made as the subsidiaries in Hong Kong incurred tax
loss during the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021.

(i

ERERABMEMNAER -

BEMNEHMAS 2EELAE
20088 T AFMTHEARS25% M
BiE008 BTN ORI 2R A
165%°

BE-Z-__FR-Z-—FMA=+
AILFE AEENSEREENAE
FISRRBEFGH MBI E - KEE
FISBMARH A EEEEKEMNS
FIRVBER 6 5% 5 — TR mT -
EREBNEGHEE RAAEEN
BRARAINBE-_Z-__FR-T_—F
MA=+RILFEHEHEESR-
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FEHEX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss BEGEERNEMEZERGZR  FAM
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and SHEYEBRTAERYELT:
other comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Loss before taxation BREEAIE R (7,364) (93,360)
Notional tax at the rate applicable to loss  ZARBRHK A AR 2 FE
in the tax jurisdictions concerned BRANRNE AENE (1,215) (15,404)
Tax effect of expense not deductible for FLAHIE B B AT IR R
tax purpose WG E 789 14,932
Tax loss not recognised W R 2 BIEEE 426 472
Income tax expense PigHiR % = -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused RHREHR NEEEF413,080,000%
tax losses of approximately HK$13,080,000 (2021: HK$10,500,000) TL(ZZ=—%:10500000% )M
available for offsetting against future profits of the companies in which AARARESBENANEEESAER
the losses arose. The estimated unused tax losses may be carried B A T BRI HZH o (Het kB ARIA
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in IR ERLEE - PRI G FIRIRA
respect of these estimated unused tax losses due to unpredictability A[FEA A EpZz S Ema RE B
of future profit streams. EEERABLRIAEE -
As at 30 April 2022, no deferred taxation has been provided as there RZEZZFNA=+TH ARTEEMD
are no other significant unrecognised temporary differences (2021: FAAEREEER WU EREELR
Nil). B(ZTZ—F:8)-
DIVIDENDS 10. RS
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 30 April HE_Z_—_FR-_F_—FWA=1
2022 and 2021 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of BIEFE RN 2R EEARE
the reporting period. BmSHRETERAREEMRE
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
HEZZ-__FNA=THLEHFE

LOSS PER SHARE 1. 8RER
The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the SEANREAAELEBREREEY
Company is based on the followings: HEMT
2022 2021
—EC--F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ARG ESRELERE
the Company for the purposes of P /NCIE ZSUN
basic loss per share EiEFREE (7,364) (93,360)
2022 2021
—E-C T —-F
’000 '000
TR T
Number of shares ROBE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ARG EESREXREEDN
for the purpose of basic loss per share BRI T2 1,577,200 1,577,200
As the Company's outstanding share options had an anti-dilutive effect ARARAB MATEEBREETIRER
to the basic loss per share calculation, the exercise of these potential BETEEENEETE WTEHE
ordinary shares is not assumed in the calculation of diluted loss per R -FMA=THIESE
share for the years ended 30 April 2022 and 2021. EZBRESEESTERRZZER
LRREETR-

Therefore, diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per

I BREERERARERENEBRM

o

share.

)|
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

2. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS 12. ESRITHARFH
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @) EERTHRAREH
Emoluments of directors and chief executive disclosed pursuant BERITHAH 2 FM  BIZRGEM
to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong EmRA BB REEHIFE383()
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure BEAR(BEESMNEER)H
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as PIE2EDHENT
follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits schemes
Fee in kind  contributions Total
A= RINER
e REVER at Bl st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TERT TR
2022 —EC-CE
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Zhou (note a) st (MiEa) - 500 8 508
Ms. Meng (note b) Azt (Hizb) - 225 8 233
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy (note c) B2t (Matc) - 308 14 32
Mr. Choi Pun Lap (note d) BRI (M) - 210 I 21
Independent Non-executive BYFGTES:
directors:
Mr. FuYan Ming (note e) FRALE (Mizte) 64 - - 64
Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan (note ) OB A (BEEES) 64 - - 64
Mr. Leung Tsun Ip (note g) REEEE (Mitg) 64 = — 64
Dr. Wong Foelan (note h) "ECEL (ML) 17 - - 17

209 1,243 41 1,493
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mE M| RMEE

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(2)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 30 April 2022

HE-_ZT-_—_FMOA=+tHLEEE

12. EERTHARGTM £)
@) EBRTBAZETM(Z)

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits schemes
Fee inkind  contributions Total
e 2% RIRER
wE  REVEMN HEReA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TER
2021 i 3
Executive directors: HWITEE:
Mr. Zhou (note a) %A (Kiata) - 1,200 8 1218
Ms. Meng (note b) At (fab) - 540 18 558
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Ms, Lai Pik Chi, Peggy (note c) REE LT (M) 120 - - 120
Mr. Tsui Chung Ho (note i) REZLE (M) 156 - - 156
Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond BENEEL (M)
(note )) 154 - - 154
Dr. Wong Foelan (note h) BECEL (ML) 2 - - 2
432 1,740 36 2,208
Notes: Pzt -
(@) Mr Zhou was removed as executive director on 30 September @@ ALERZZE=-—FAA=1H
2021. WERHITES-
(b) Ms. Meng was removed as executive director on 30 September ) BERITRZZZ-FAA=TH
2021. WERHITES-
() Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy was appointed as an independent non- (@ BEZHLRZZ-NET—HA

executive director on 19 November 2019 and re-designated as

an executive director on 19 July 2021.

TNREZERBUFNTES
VTH-ZE-—FtA+NBRE
AyiTEE-.
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

12.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(d)

(e)

V)

(8

(h)

Mr. Choi Pun Lap was appointed as an executive director on 30
September 2021.

Mr. Fu Yan Ming was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 21 October 2021.

Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan was appointed as an independent non-

executive director on 21 October 2021.

Mr. Leung Tsun Ip was appointed as an independent non-

executive director on 21 October 2021.

Dr.Wong Foelan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, with effect from 26 April 2021 and
resigned on 21 June 2021.

Mr. Tsui Chung Ho was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 31 August 2019 and resigned on 12 March
2021.

Dr. Wong Man Hin, Raymond resigned as an independent non-

executive director on 9 March 2021.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for

their services in connection with the management of the affairs

of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Except for disclosed in note 25, no other transactions,

arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business

to which the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company was

a party and in which a director had a material interest, whether

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting

period or at any time during the year

12. EERTHARETEM £)
ESRTHERETMN (£)
WisE: ()

(a)

C)

BAUEERZZ=Z—FNA
“THEZERHTES:

REHAER-_Z_—F1AH
- REZEABUIFNTE
ES

HXOEEER B —F+A
“t+-BEZEABIIHNTE
=.

REERER-T_—F+A
“t-REZERBIUIFNTE
£

BECBLIDEZTAARES
VIEiTER 5T —FNA
ZHAARBEMEA T —F
NAZT—HEHT-

BEREER-_Z-NENA
—+-REZTABUITE
EYRN-—ZE-_—F=A+=-H#
fEo

BEVBEEIR-_E-_—F=AA
ABIBIERITES-

THRMITESHM AR ARE
BARRRAGBEBORENFH

[

TABIFRTESHMOEAER
AREEFRERIGHFM

FRIIEE25 IR EEE SN RS HIR
KEREFEHEEFERARR

/N

AERMB AR BT RE

SNEPERRMRBEEEA R
MERKEEXHER AL S
ZHRAH-
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2. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 30 April 2022, one director is among the
five highest paid individuals (2021: one). The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2021: four)

highest paid individuals are as follows:

REVBRRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_F__FMA=1tHLEE

12. EERTHARTM (&)

(b)

LEBRREMAL

BE_Z_—_FNAZTHLF
B hamasMALTEREE—
REE(ZT—F:—F)HT
& (ZE=—F:U%) k=M

ATHFHBEMNT
2022 2021
—EC--F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT T
Salaries, fee and allowances e we Rk 2,545 2,805
Discretionary bonuses M TEAL 110 -
Retirement benefit schemes RIREMET BT
contributions 72 69
2,727 2,874
The emoluments fell within the following bands: P AEREEE M T :
Number of individuals
AE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
Emolument bands ¥ E
Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 ZZ£1,000000% 7T 4 4

No director or the five highest paid individuals received any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during
the year ended 30 April 2022 (2021: Nil).

BE-Z-_—_FNA=1THIE
N ITEEEXRERRTMA
TRASBWREREM#E - (EAM
BASERNMBEREE R R
SRIERBBEE (ZF=—F:
&)

aq S
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A BE|RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. % BERRE

Plant and Motor  Furniture and
machinery vehicles fixtures Total
BHRR
BER#E nE EEXE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TER TR
Cost A
As at | May 2020 R-_ZE_ZFRA—H 2463 2514 654 5631
Additions NE - - 16 16
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries RIEEEAENBAR - - (13) (13)
Disposals & - - %) %)
As at 30 April 2021 and | May 2021 RZZTZ—FWA=+HR
-1 A-H 2463 2514 648 5,625
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B - - (89) (89)
As at 30 April 2022 RZE__FMA=1H 2,463 2514 559 5536
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE
As at | May 2020 R_ZE_ZFRA—H (2,463) (1.251) (590) (4,304)
Charge for the year FRAXH - (553) (22) (575)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEGEEAEHBLAR - - 2 2
Written back on disposals o B O - - 8 8
As at 30 April 2021 and | May 2021 RZZZ—FWNA=+HR
-1 A-H (2,463) (1,804) (602) (4,869)
Charge for the year FRAXH - (420) (3) (423)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAA - - 58 58
As at 30 April 2022 RZZEZZFMA=1H (2,463) (2,224) (547) (5,234)
Carrying amounts REE
As at 30 April 2022 RZBZZEMA=+H - 290 12 302
As at 30 April 2021 RZZE-—4$MA=+H - 710 46 756

As at 30 April 2022, costs of fully depreciated plant and machinery
that were still in use by the Group were HK$2,463,000 (2021:
HK$2,463,000).

RIBE-—FWNA=+HB NHAEE
FRZBHARTEZRERKER 2
A B2,463,0008 L (ZEZ—F:
2,463000587T) °
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REVBRRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE

14, FREEE

Furniture and

fixtures
BRLBEERE
HK$'000
TERT
Carrying amounts as at RZZ-_ZTERA-BNKEE
I May 2020 6
Depreciation charges EXH (6)
Carrying amounts as at RZZE-_-F0A=1H"
30 April 2021, | May 2021 and 30 April 2022 “EZ--FRA-BAR-T-_-FWA=1+AHH
RHEE -
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit HNEEEANEEEENE YEBEY
or loss is as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-=F —E2-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
Expenses relating to short-term lease HEHHEEMNMX 446 2,113
Total cash outflow for leases MERS ML AHE 446 2,118

The Group leases various offices and furniture and fixtures for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of |
year (2021: | year). In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is

enforceable.

AEEHERTRARREUARKARE
EREFRLZEAZ -HEAHRIF (=
To—F I F)NETHRT -HEE
HEMREFENTHERORER - X
SERBAONTER LET AR
HITHHARR »
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A BE|RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

14.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

4. EREEE (&)

Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were nil as at 30 April 2022

(2021: nil).

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the

security interests in the furniture and fixtures that are held by the

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 April 2022 and 2021

are as follows:

WZZZZFWMA=1H BEEERE
REEERT (Z2=—F:%)-

BRHEBEARBERRARETREMNE
REERR SN - T B h e I S AR T AT (A 36
HEEETSRERROERR-

RHE DA ES
RZE-—FR-F-—FWNA=1H"
TEMBARMEENT:

Equity interest

attributable to the Group

KRB 4G REL A

Place/country of Issued share
Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
REER EMRIEYBR EROTREA/ERER ZBZZF —T--F FEEH
Directly held
EERA
True Sincere Group Limited  British Virgin US$1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
FHEEER AR Island (“BVI") EF: 3 RERRK

RBREAHE

([RBRZEE])

Sunvot Holdings Limited BVI US$1 of | ordinary share - 100%  Investment holdings

RERZES | T E BB REZR

Liangzhu Global Limited BVI
RERAHE

US$1 of | ordinary share
FAEn 1

100%  Investment holdings
REER
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mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15. RINEBARIMER (&)
Equity interest
attributable to the Group
A5 B G R A L )
Place/country of Issued share
Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
ALEE: AMRIEE/BR ERTRE/ERERS ZB--F —T--F IFEXH
Indirectly held
BERE
Strong Move Global BVI USS$! of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited RERZES B REZR
RERKBERAA
Magic City Developments BVI US$!1 of | ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Limited RERZES A ] REZR
Fraser Construction Hong Kong HK$18,000,000 of 100% 100%  Undertaking slope works,
Company Limited e 180,000 foundation works and
HMERERRRA ordinary shares other general building
180,000% 18,000,0007% 7T works in Hong Kong
Rl EEBETARIR-
wEIRREM
—REETR
Tubo Technology Hong Kong HK$1,000 of 1,000 100% 100%  Provision of consultancy
Construction Company e ordinary shares services in relation to the
Limited 1,0008% 1,000 7T management of projects
ARERBR LA EEEL involving slope works,

foundation works and/or
other general building

works in Hong Kong

ERERESRARTE.

WETER/SKf
—HRETRERER
AR
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For the year ended 30 April 2022

BE_Z__FNA=1+HLEEE

I5. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) I15. RINBARKER (&)

Equity interest
attributable to the Group

752 8 46 IR A L )
Place/country of Issued share
Company name incorporation capital/registered capital 2022 2021 Principal activities
AT AMRIEE/BR ERTRE /ERERX ZB-ZF —T--F IFEXH
Sunvot Tech Co Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 - 100%  Investment holdings
BERAERAH N ordinary shares REER
|00 10078 7T & B AR
PAI Mobile Holdings Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 - 81%  Not yet commence business
Limited e ordinary shares BENGIEES S
100/ 1007 7T & & A
Liangzhu Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 - 100%  Not yet commence business
RABEBRAT BE |00M 1007 7T & 38 EPNEIEE 3
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at MEMNBARGETEANREHRL
the end of the reporting period or at any time during the reporting REHAEMSHFENEHE S -
period.
l6. TRADEAND OTHER RECEIVABLES l6. EZREMEBERRE
2022 2021
—E-C —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET
Trade receivables from contracts with customers RE &P &AM E 7 EIKFIA
(net of allowance for credit losses) (note (a)) (MBREEBEERE) (MiEe) 12,746 13,341
Other receivables H A IR 20 254
Prepayments and deposits (note (b)) ANFEES (HEb)) 3,746 743

16,512 14,338




MIBEREEREEERAT
2022 & 8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. TRADEAND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(2)

Trade receivables

The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of
21-60 days (2021: 21-60 days). For the settlement of trade
receivables from provision of construction services, the Group
usually reaches an agreement on the term of each payment with
the customer by taking into account of factors such as, among
other things, the credit history of the customer its liquidity
position and the Group's working capital needs, which varies on
a case-by-case basis that requires the judgment and experience

of the management.

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade

receivables, net of allowance for credit loss, was as follows:

mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

6. ESRHEMEUTIEE)

(a)

B EWRE
AEEARREFPREHE21E60
A ZEZ—F:21260K)EH
H o IR LRGN E F YK
BEENE ~EEBTREEN
HEOBBEEFPENBZE K
(EHBRE)BFPNEEREL RE
BeMARAREREE ST RS
& HE@ERERHEMTRE"
WARKSEEEREN I RS-

BREEZEH 85 RNE (N
REEEEEB) ORRI TN
T

2022 2021

—E--F —E-—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT TET

0-30 days 0F30K 12,634 13,151
31-60 days 3IE60K = -
61-90 days 61 £90K = -
Over 90 days L EPIOPN 112 190
12,746 13,341

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

are set out in note 26.3 to the consolidated financial statements,

B 5 N E MR WEIR 2 BUER G
BEN G M RmRME263
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o2 = |

B F R R M RE

For the year ended 30 April 2022

#H=

l6.

—E--_FNMA=t+HLEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Prepayment and deposits

For the year ended 30 April 2022

During the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group had made
prepayment of on-going project of approximately HK$2,783,000

to its subcontractors.

For the year ended 30 April 2021

During the year ended 30 April 2020, the Group entered into
several material purchase agreements with its suppliers for the
project of 5G business. As at 30 April 2020, the Group had
prepayment on the purchase of material related to 5G business
for purchase of 5G materials for the year ended 30 April 2021.
amounting to approximately HK$42,251,000. As at | May 2020,
an aggregate amount of approximately HK$33,824,000 were
derecognised from the consolidated financial statements of the
Group due to the deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries
with effect from | May 2020.

The management considered the recoverability of the
prepayment deposit was in doubt, and an impairment of
approximately HK$8,427,000 was recognised in the year ended
30 April 2021 on prepayment.

Security deposit

For the year ended 30 April 2021

A customer of construction contract undertaken by the Group
required the Group to place a security deposit of HK$5,000,000
for the performance of construction work. The security deposit
would be released when the construction work is completed or
substantially completed. As at 30 April 2020, the Group had an
outstanding security deposit of HK$5,000,000. The management
considered the recoverability of the security deposit was in
doubt, and an impairment of HK$5,000,000 was recognised for
the year ended 30 April 2021.

s
=3
-

& H fth FE 1 5

BREkES
E@_%?::iﬂﬁ =tALFE
BE-Z-__FMWA=THIHF
B ASEERESBEINFE
JH B 2 B 3492,783,000/8 7T °

IE\ZE/

BE-_Z-_—FMA=THLFE
REE-T-_TFNA=FTHLF
B AEE Rt ERRSCERIER
SN AETMHEERE RZE=F
FHA=TH AEEBENEHSG
EBMMRIEREETA /42,251,000
BT AEREE-_T=-—FNA
THHLEFERBESGH B -RZ
Z-ZEFRA-H mRAZEZ
TFERA—BRELEAARN
B RKRIEGRANE WEEN
338240008 TN A& B4R & B 7%
MERAK TR

ERERABNTRS A RE
G BBEE-_T-—FMA=T
AIEFED#RA84270008 7T
MTER ZURE

RES

BT FMA=THLFE
AEEAR  BEAAN—REP
ERAEERRITREIRYIN
5000000/ TC 2 IRE & © (RE £ 1%
REETIRTR KRBT E T U
RE-RZT_TFWA=+H &
£ EA50000008 THIRES MK
e - B ERAIRES MR
B BEE-_T-—FMNA=1H
[ E B HERIRES,000,000/8 7T ©
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mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

7. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. EHNEERGWNER
Contract assets EHEE
2022 202 |
—E-C “E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FTHET
Unbilled revenue ARBWZE 7,131 3,464
Retention receivables JEWIRE S 2,369 6,153
9,500 9,617
Note: Bt s :

Unbilled revenue represents the Group's right to receive consideration for
work completed and not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon
the satisfaction by the customers on the construction work completed by
the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group obtains the

certification of the completed construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the Group's right
to consideration for work performed and not yet billed because the rights are
conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
[-4 years (2021: | year). as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become unconditional,
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of
assurance by the Group on the service quality of the construction work

performed by the Group.

The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. The amount of contract assets expected to be
recovered/settled over one year is HK$Nil (2021: HK$4,492,000), all of the

remaining balances are expected to be recovered/settled within one year

AEBEWGEEAEEERIC T T TRERRK
EBERRENAREFERAREATKE
SR UEE B TRIER R P REM M A
ARE-RENKARGNE ANEENE
BRERSRNGE —RAAEEESRFY
EXTRETRNBER-

FABNEENBRREEASERAFR
Ik%ﬂﬁﬁm%ﬁrﬁﬁwm%ﬂaﬁzﬁ
RENFEZ I Z4E (Z2Z—F: 1 F) Nz
MERBERFAEEmMARARE -S04
EREFIRKARGHRERZEHRKE
—BRARERAEEAMARZBETR 2R

BERRHRBFHAEOIHA

BN AEREE cNEENEREEFRE
Wskog - BEIR R B A—FWE/ EEZED
BEFBATHIT(ZTZ—%:4492000
L) TEREERERN - ERRE, BB
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For the year ended 30 April 2022

BE_Z__FNA=1+HLEEE

18. CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. RERREEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents @ RERALEZEY
2022 2021
—E-=F T —-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB 7 FBT
Cash at banks and on hand and deposits 877 R FER & A LR
placed in financial institution SREBOER 44,770 25,183
Notes: Bfst
Cash at banks and deposits placed in financial institution earns interest RITHRLBEERBTEIN RN TH

at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. RS R



(b)
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mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

18. CASHAND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 18. HENHELEEY (&)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities b) BMETBELEZEEZHE
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEEBELARE TS v EBZE
activities can be classified as follows: B NS
Amounts
Amount due to due to
a director of former Leases
a subsidiary directors  Borrowings liabilities Total
FER—F
EPNG FEAS i
—£EERE EENHE ffg HEAE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TR TET TR THET
As at | May 2020 RZZ-ZTFHH-H 40,700 418 - 4 41,122
Cash flows Heme
Addition from directors KEEZNARE - 3733 - - 3733
Repayment to lease liabilities EEBEEE - - - (4) 4)
Repayment to a director - B AR
of a subsidiary —REEER (10,700) - - - (10,700)
Interest paid BERFHE - - - (1) ()
Non-cash changes FREBE
Finance costs recognised ERRRMEKA - - - |
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries 4% 1F4R A& A B Hi B2 7] - (195) - - (195)
At30 April 2021 and | May RZTEZ—FMA=+H
2021 k=Z-—-%hA—-H 30,000 3956 - - 33956
Cash flows HEenmg
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEFE - - 4,682 - 4,682
Advances from a director of a  RE—EIBARESZ
subsidiary BN 21,800 - - - 21,800
Advances from former directors  BIE = 815 7R - 982 - - 982
Repayment to a former director (BB E EHA - (300) - - (300)
Non-cash changes FREBE
Finance cost recognised ERRRMEKA - - 287 - 287
Derecognised upon disposal of {1 & Ii{ B2 Fl#& &R (LR
subsidiaries - (346) - - (346)
As at 30 April 2022 R-®2--#mA=1A 51,800 4292 4,969 - 61,061
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A BE|RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

19.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. BEZRHEMENRE

Trade payables (note (a))

Retention payables (note (b))

Accruals and other payables
(note (c) and (d))

BHEMAFIE (HEE)

ERHREBE (o))

FEAT B A I E At FE 1 3R
(M E (&)

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAET
19,272 15,280
2,452 6,332
63,850 40,380
85,574 61,992

Notes: Bt -
(a)  Payment terms granted by suppliers are 42-60 days (2021: 42-60 days) @ HEFRTHNFERAEFHEEES
from the invoice date of the relevant purchases. ZAHBLEOR(ZE=Z—F 142
Z60K) ©
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as B HRNFIERER B HNERA TN
follows: T
2022 2021
—E-=F —TZ—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
0-30 days 030K 19,189 15,238
31-60 days 31E60K = -
61-90 days 61 290K = -
Over 90 days HBiBI0K 83 42
19,272 15,280
(b)  Retention payables are interest-free and settled in accordance with the (b)

terms of the respective contracts.

()  Accruals and other payables included an amount due to a director of

a subsidiary of HK$51,800,000 (2021: HK$30,000,000). The balance is

non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand.

[
& Eh

ENREEAZE LREFEAON
R E

BB REMENFBERERMS—
Z WA R M E EFIES 1,800,000/
7t (=% =—%:30,000,000%T) °
EHRABIEHUE BER THER
BREREE-
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. EZRHEMBEMSRE(E)

Notes: (Continued) Wizr: (&)

(d)  Amounts due to former directors, Mr. Zhou of HK$3,365,000 (2021: (d ERAEZRELENIE3365000/8
HK$3,262,000) and Ms. Meng of HK$927,000 (202 1: HK$694,000), were T(ZEZ—%:32620008L) %
arisen from salaries due to them by the Company and advances from HEZT927000/8 T (ZE - —4F:
them to pay the operating expenses of the Company. The balances 69400087 ) EX B AL AN RKE
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. During e R BEERTUINARALER
the year ended 30 April, 2022, the management of the Company has Yo EBBEEEE RN ERENRE
worked with the PRC legal adviser and has placed public notice in the B BEZT-_FNA=THLF
place of residence of the former directors to seek for any claims of the B ANREEBDEBPEEZERA
balances due to them. Up to the date of approval of the consolidated B URAIESEEMETAE UE
financial statements, the Company has not received any query or claim KERENEEES BEEGAVHR
for the amounts due to them. KEBRERE AARRARENES

HIEWE M E RS RR.
20. BORROWINGS 20. &8
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET
Borrowings, unsecured BE  mER 4,969 -
Classification based on contractual BEEHEERTDE:
repayment terms:

Current portion mENE D 4,969 -

The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEARNTEE:

Within | year or on demand | FNFIREK 4,969 -

Note: B g -

On 27 October 2021, the Company signed a loan facility agreement with a
financial institution, with loan facility limit of HK$17,000,000. During the year
ended 30 April 2022, the Company borrowed the loan principal amounted to
HK$4,682,000 at 12% interest per annum. The balances are repayable on 30
November 2022,

Following the change of the Company's controlling shareholder subsequent
to the end of the reporting period as disclosed in note | to the consolidated
financial statements, the financial institution which provides the loan facility to

the Company becomes the fellow subsidiary of the Company.

RZEZ—F+A=+tH KAREH-%
FISHEEZEEFEE LR 17,000,000/ TH)
ENEEnE B2 T —FNA=+HL
FE AQAEBEHEARRES 54682000
B EBFIGT B EHERZZTZF
+—A=tRHEE-

MEARBREME I ARE RBSHRA
ARERBREER AR RREESRE
HEREBRATARANRRMNBEAR -
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21. SHARE CAPITAL 21. BRA
(@)  Share capital @ RBRAE
No. of shares 2022 No. of shares 2021
BO#E —F== Bh#E —FT——
’000 HK$’000 '000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BREEO BT L ER
HK$0.01 each 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: BRARBR:
Ordinary shares of BREEO BT L ER
HK$0.01 each
At the beginning and end of R B RER
the reporting period 1,577,200 15,772 1,577,200 15,772
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends TRRIER ABEWETETIRN
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote BE - RAER K —FERAAT
per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary share rank A FRE-FALAEKERRDF

equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. HBEEFAREH -
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services

commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose total debt is defined
as amount due to a director of a subsidiary, amounts due to
former directors and borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The management reviews the
capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
of new shares, return of capital to shareholders, raise of new

debt or sell assets to reduce debt.

mE M| RMEE
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE

21. BA&(£)

(b)

EXEBER
AEBEAEREERRAERL
BERECEYERITRERRKE
MEmkREEE ARERER
H[ElR -

AEEERTHRTEEARBL
FEERREBMIEHFE - KK
MERNEEABHRERHEAR
Bz EHABRRTRE
N—RMEL A EEFE  ERA
EFRRMEE (AWERA BBR
MR EEEBEBREZEAR
RARSBEXBHNRERENE
ARBE-BERY AREA S
EXNTRROBEEHE BITH
Bfn MRRECER BEHE
B EBENRERES -

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period is as follows: RREBRANEEGBELENT:
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Total debts: EISREE:
Amount due to a director of a [Ef—FMB AR —REZHE
subsidiary 51,800 30,000
Amounts due to former directors JETRIE ERIB 4,292 3,956
Borrowings &8 4,969 -
61,061 33,956
Deficit attributable to owners ARE A NEGEA
of the Company (19,218) (11,854)
Gearing ratio BEBBRLE (317.7%) (286.5%)
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22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

22. RDQFAWEHEAMRRE

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAERE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARRIRE I
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayment and other receivables &% ~ 7813 5018 2 H fth FE ik 20 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries N EPNGIE ] - 7
Cash and bank balances Be MiRTiEs 2| 309
41 316
Current liabilities RBAaE
Other payables H e 5IE 3,276 4,970
Borrowings =3 4,969 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN EPNGIE ] 20,304 20,304
Amounts due to former directors ERAIZEERIA 4,292 3,610
32,841 28,884
Net current liabilities RBEERE (32,800) (28,568)
Net liabilities BEFE (32,799) (28,567)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R e
Share capital L 15,772 15,772
Reserves @ (48,571) (44,339)
Total equity EREH (32,799) (28,567)
Signed on behalf of the board of Directors on 29 July 2022 by: BTIIEER_FE-_FtA=-1+ANA
REREFEHE:
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy Mr. Choi Pun Lap REZZT BAVEE
Director Director EE EZ
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
—E__FENAZT+TALEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Note: The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows:

22. RARNHBMRRE (&)

'.\.|
)

(S

2022 & 8

Wi: ARARENEPERMT:

Share-based

payment  Accumulated
Share premium reserve losses Total
UR G RER
BRHEE  HEIREE 2 BE Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TERT TET TR
As at | May 2020 RZZE-ZERA—H 72,131 7,962 (54,114) 25979
Loss and total comprehensive FANBBREZERZAE
expense for the year - - (70,318) (70,318)
As at 30 April 2021 and RZZEZ—FNA=+HK
| May 2021 e Sk ) = 72,131 7,962 (124,432) (44,339)
Loss and total comprehensive FNBBREZERZAE
expense for the year - - (4232) (4232)
Forfeiture of vested share options R E 57 B FE & - (7,962) 7,962
As at 30 April 2022 RZEZZHNA=+H 72,131 - (120,702) (48,571)
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23.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group deconsolidated the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from its

consolidated financial statements with effective on | May 2020.

(@)

The following is a list of the subsidiaries

deconsolidated from | May 2020:

which have been

23.

RIEGEARHNEAT
KﬁlmmA%%ﬁimTﬁAﬁﬁt
HAAERNMBLR BT -ZF1A
—BREN-

@ MNUTRE-Z-TFIA-HER
IEERE ABRE B2 A5 -

Company name

Place/country

of incorporation

Issued share/

registered capital

Effective
interest held

by the Group  Principal activities

at i B 32 BERTRE/ KEERG
RREEH W/ ER BRE-N RELH FEXK
Zhejiang Zhong Chun PRC RMB300,000,000 [00%  Inactive
MITREXMRERRA* & AR #300,000,0007T 100% NER
Zhejiang Fu Lian PRC RMB20,000,000 100%  Investment holdings
MIEEEEEREARAA  HE AR #20,0000007T 100% REZK
Zhejiang Xin Lian PRC RMB 18,000,000 51%  Developing 5G
communication
and related services
MIHBEEBRARMARRE +E AR 180000007 51%  ERSGRM KRR RS
* The entities were established in the PRC and are wholly * PAER Y BINTBEDER

foreign-owned enterprise.

i

= B

o

il
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

23. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. RIEGREANRMBAR (£)

(b) The net assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as of | by RIZZZFERA—BELEEAEA
May 2020, which were based on the financial information of %E’]Bﬁ% TE’JQE@{E( JiATeS
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as at 30 April 2020, and the SANENRBARIRN-E-Z
amounts due from Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, are set out ﬁ@ﬂ =+A E’\]Eﬁ%ﬁﬂ)&ﬂuﬁl
below: BIHEE ARNIBARNTIES

RIESN WM -
Total
et
HK$’000
THERT
Net assets deconsolidated of: REGEARNEETE:
Property, plant and equipment mE - BERRE I
Other receivables Hh fEU R IE 29,149
Prepayments and deposits BNRERES 40,517
Cash and bank balances RekRiTER 433
Other payables H {5018 (6,625)
Amount due to immediate holding company ENEEERARE (43,888)
Amount due to a director BN —2EERIE (195)
Net assets of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries derecognised #2 |FERK IFGRA ARKNIEARNEEFE 19,402
Adjustment of non-controlling interest upon PRI IR A NIRRT SR IR 22
deconsolidation 2,003
Release of exchange reserve upon deconsolidation R LR E NBRES BERR BB K 2,170
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries RUEGEARMBARNES 23,575
Net cash outflow arising from fEARKR LGRS ARNE ML FE

deconsolidation of subsidiaries

(433)
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23. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. RIGEAERKBAR (&)
(¢)  Impairment on amount due from a deconsolidated subsidiary o ER-EALGEARNKEAR
HERE
As at | May 2020, the Group had following amount due from a R_Z_TFRA-R FEEE
deconsolidated subsidiary W — & LR A ABREIPH B 2RI
THE
Total
#Ast
HK$’000
THERT
Amount due from Zhejiang Fu Lian JE WO 2 & A 43,888
— Impairment loss on amount due from — W —FER LR E ABRAE 2 B 5KIE
a deconsolidated subsidiary EEE (43,888)
Total e -
As disclosed in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements, Miza B BmERMF2AMBEE-
as at | May 2020, the Group had an amount due from a RZZE-ZFRA—H KEEE
deconsolidated subsidiary of approximately HK$43,888,000. W—FR IR A AR B AR
An impairment loss on amount due from a deconsolidated 847 /543,888,0008 T - BE-F
subsidiary of approximately HK$43,888,000 was recognised TENA=THILEECHERE
during the year ended 30 April 2021. Wik kR e A BR BN B 2 B 3RIE )
(BB 143,888,000/ 7T °
24. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 24. HEHREBRA
On 29 April 2022, the Company entered into several sale and RZE-__FWAZF+NB ARAFF

purchase agreements to dispose of (i) the entire equity interest in
Liangzhu Global Limited which held a subsidiary, (ii) the entire equity
interest in Sunvot Holdings Limited which held several subsidiaries,
including two of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries described in Note
23 and (iii) the entire equity interest in Zhejian Zhong Chun, one of
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, at cash consideration of HK$20,000
in aggregate to the purchaser, Mr. Zhao Chengjin, an independent
third party. As a result, the Group lost control over the disposed
subsidiaries with effect from 29 April 2022.

NETEE W E  ARE JZhao Chengjin
EE(—BBUE=F)HE() Liangzhu
Global Limited (#35 —RIME A A %
EPARAE * (i))Sunvot Holdings Limited (55
ATHERE BREME2IMEHMERE
IEERE ABRMTE A R]) 69 2 SRR AE K (i)
IHF (RIEEEARRBATZ—)H
2 ERE - ReRBAEH20,0008 T
Eit - AEEEE_T__FMA-tAh
ARAXEHEHENB AR FHE-
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following is a list of the subsidiaries (including the Deconsolidated

24, HEWBLR (&)
UTAER-_E-_—&F#mMA-_+ABH

Subsidiaries disclosed in note 23(a)) which have been disposed on 29

April 2022:

ENMBEAR (BREME23@MKEN
BRIERAEARNBAR)EE:

Company name

Place/country of

incorporation

Issued share/registered capital

Effective
interest held

by the Group

Principal activities

&t Ak AL AEEREN
AEEW W EX BEROTRE EMEE EXER IEED
Sunvot Holdings Limited BVI USS$I of | ordinary share 100% Investment holdings
ABRLES BTl REER
Sunvot Tech Co Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 ordinary shares 100% Investment holdings
EEBEEARAF B 1008 1007 7T & B BEZR
PAI Mobile Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 ordinary shares 81% Dormant
B 100/ 10078 7T & BXB
Liangzhu Global Limited BVI USS$I of | ordinary share 100% Investment holdings
ABRUEE BRI T E B REEKR
Liangzhu Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$100 of 100 ordinary shares 100% Dormant
RAEBBERAAF B 1008 1007 7T & B BXH
Zhejiang Zhong Chun PRC RMB300,000,000 100% Inactive
HLHE i A E#5300,000,0007T TER
Zhejiang Fu Lian PRC RMB20,000,000 100% Investment holdings
H1EE i AR 520,000,000 BAER
Zhejiang Xin Lian PRC RMB18,000,000 51% 51% Developing 5G
ARk & A E#18,000,0007T comm un i cation and
related services
BRSGEBA R ARRRY
Jiang Lian Mei An Wenhua PRC RMB 10,000,000 51% TV Broadcast and
Chuanmei (Zhejiang) a2 AR #10,000,0007T import and export
Limited trading
THEF AR OfT) ERERRELA
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24.

25.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 24, HEMBAR (£)
The aggregate net assets of the disposed subsidiaries, excluding HEMBAR (MEENZE-_2FH
the net assets of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries which have been B—B&RILEAEARNKIEGEA AER
derecognised on | May 2020, (note 23) as at the date of disposal FEBLAR (HE23)NEEFE REE
were as follow: REARFEERRBIT -
HK$’000
THERT
Net assets disposed of: BHEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment ME BEREE 31
Other receivables and deposits HithBKRIERE® 521
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 34
Other payables H fth e 5 308 (35)
Amount due to a former director [N — BRI EEHIE (346)
Net assets disposed of BHEFEAE 205
Cash consideration receivable EUHRERE 20
Loss on disposal HEEE (185)
Net cash outflow on disposal: HER TSR HIFE:
Cash consideration received ERHR2KE 20
Bank balances and cash disposed of BEHERTESRNIRE (34)
(14)
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 25. BEARS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in BEATBRREMESNAM 25K
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered into the RN REBBRE U TBEE LS :

following related party transactions:
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HEZZ-__FNA=THLEHFE

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 25. BBMARS (&)
(@) Key management personnel remuneration @ TEEBEAEHFH
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of KAREEREREREE (BTE
the Company, who represent the key management personnel TIBAB)HMT
are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAET
Salaries, fee and allowances e e ko2 3,799 3,512
Discretionary bonuses MIETEAL 110 -
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & K4EF5T 24 5 101 72
4,010 3,584
(b) Transactions with related parties b) HEBEINRSZ
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BESMERREMEOMERS
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions GOh REBEHBRE Y TR
with its related parties: 5
Name of related party Nature 2022 2021
BELER =1 —g-C —T_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAL
Mars Glare Limited Rent paid thereto (note (i) and (ii)) 437 426
EZHERAA BERHEE (PHFEG6)Ri))

Rental expense paid to related parties are constituted as
continuing connected transaction under GEM Listing Rules,
but are exempted from the announcement, reporting and

independent shareholders' approval requirement.

BIEGEM EMRA - I TR A
WHEeRZBNHERERS B
BRPETAL BARERBIRE
BERBTE
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25.

26.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
Notes:

() An office with car parking space was leased from Mars Glare
Limited during the years ended 30 April 2021 and 2022 on terms

mutually agreed between both parties.

(i) A company of which Mr. Yu Shek Man Ringo, a director of a

subsidiary of the Company, is a shareholder.

(c)  Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the
reporting period are set out in note 19(c) and 19(d).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The financial risks
include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by

the Board of Directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage

these risks are described below.

25.

26.

BEIRS (4)
6) EEBIHRS(F)
it

() BEEHFHEBAENER RE
EEC-ER-ECEMA
=TEEEEEEZHAERRT
AH-HNAEELNBLE-

(i) wEERE (RRA—FWER
AINES) BZDAMRR -

() RIMEHRERMYFNEHRFER
R I9(0) R 19(d)
BHEEREERAFENE
AEENARERRETFRASRIAR
7¥@f§ﬁ7h‘*mﬁoﬁwﬂﬁ BIEF R @
f;f //lbibﬁfﬂ ”” °$EIE’J%§E‘§
[ E%E BEBHASENBEE
HBETHFERERE - BRERTIH
AEERREREMTINCESSE

AEBHZTARNAELAREERE
ZERBRAROMBEAREERRRE

AEINIE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)

26.1

26.2

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position relate to the following categories of financial

assets and liabilities:

mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE-Z-__FMA=1tHLFE

26, BERABREBERAFETE (£)
6.1 RHEEREEDE

FRMBRRKAIIREESR T
TREERBENBER:

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAER FExT
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost: RBEK ARG E
—Trade and other receivables -8B 5 R EMEWFIE 12,766 13,595
— Cash and cash equivalent -RekHeEEY 44,770 25,183
57,536 38,778
Financial liabilities cRHER
At amortised cost: BBEK AT E
—Trade and other payables —B 5 RE AN RIE 85,574 61,992
— Borrowings —fBE 4,969 -
90,543 61,992

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes

in market interest rates.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from borrowings,
which carry interests at fixed rate and expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The exposure to interest rate risk for the
Group's bank balances and deposits placed in financial institution

is considered immaterial.

262 FEERK
FlEREBIERERIANRTE
FHemEFEATHNENE
MKEERER

AEBZFEAREIERAZETE
MEGBZEE EAKERER
FEMEER NREZRITER
R & B A0 77 SRAY 2R L B
QWAL TERK -
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the
terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises
from granting credit to customers in the ordinary course of its

operations and from its investing activities.

The Group’'s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to
the carrying amounts of the financial assets at the end of each
reporting period as detailed in note 26.1 and contract assets at

the end of the reporting period.

In respect of trade receivables and contract assets, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers and
counterparties. These evaluations focus on the counterparty’s
financial position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the counterparty as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade and other receivables and
contract assets at the end of each reporting period to ensure

adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 30 April 2022, the Group has concentration of credit
risk as 32% (2021: 41%), and 99% (2021: 99%) of the total
trade receivables were due from the Group's largest customer
and five largest customers respectively. The aggregate carrying
amounts of trade receivables from these customers amounted
to HK$4,087,000 (2021: HK$5,510,000), and HK$12,671,000
(2021: HK$13,211,000) of the Group's total trade receivables at
30 April 2022.

BREBEER A FENE(4)

263 EERK

FERRREMIAZRSHFR

EREEBTAZKRBETELL
REARERZHBRAZEAR
AEEAZ 2 EERBRIRRAR
ﬁﬁ%iﬁh&ﬂgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
KEREES-

AEEMAZ 2 BRREERBER
REBEEREREBRZRAE
(mHE26.  FEFi) AREHE
ERREBRZRAE.

BRNESRAMREFAERANE
RRUMBERL RYFTET
ERIEE R G - FFERINY
FHZBBAR - BEMN
TERHF I ZHTERARES
FHELHEBOEERS A&E
EEmERRFRERRIE—S
TEREARER - 4IN FEE
BEREHERRZHNZERE SR
Ht YRR R ANEE 27K
@%*Mﬁ%ﬁ$ﬂ%@@%¢ﬁ
7R R E B R -

RZZE-_—_FNA=1+RH - BEFE
W FBEsER32% (— T - —F:
41%)%99% (Z T = —%:99%)
“%%ﬁ%ﬁilﬁkzﬁﬁﬂﬁ
EPHFE BASEEER
C30RY; \:Eiiiﬂﬂ—JrElv
ERZEEFPHNEHEKKIBR
EREAASEESIENFIAL
#4,087,0008 T (ZF=—
5,510,000 7T) 12,671,000/
(ZZE=—%:13211,000%
)o

a1 dl
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

For the year ended 30 April 2022

HE-_ZT-_—_FMOA=+tHLEEE

26. BREAMEER A FENE(4)

263 SERK(E)

FEENABEERRSAFEE

BATRE:

Internal credit rating Description

hBEREA

I

Trade receivables/contract

assets

ERRETE/ ANEE

Other financial assets/other

items

AftemEE/ EtEE

Low risk

{ERB

Watch list

BR2E

Doubtful

(24

Write-off

s

The counterparty has a low risk of default and

does not have any past-due amounts

BFHEORRELTEEMARTE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but

usually settles after due date

EBEAERENHRRERERRENAARER

There have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources
BRARANBAEER FERRANGEDR
KL

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit
impaired

RRERTEERLEEEAE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no

realistic prospect of recovery

REBETEBARNEENBRAR
ARBEREFRNERAE

Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired
2HRAEERE-

AEEGERE
Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired
SHBEREERE-

AEEEERE

Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired

2HBRAEEEE-
AEEEERE

Lifetime ECL-credit-impaired

2HBRREERE-
YEREHE

Amount is written off

R

[2-month ECL

EARHEREE

[2-month ECL

1EARHEEEE

Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired

THEREERE-
AEEEERE

Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired

2HBREERE-
YERERE

Amount is written off

AR
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial assets,

which are subject to ECL assessment:

26. BREAMEER A FENE(4)

263 SERK(E)

TRITAEERIELRBEES

SHENEREECERRFE:

External Internal
credit credit [2-month or
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
i SHBREE RHBEE NEARAEEERS
iy R rHEAEEER REAE
2022 2021
—E-CF ZTZ-F
HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR
Financial assets at amortised cost
REERATR eREE
Trade and other
receivables
5 RERYRR
— trade receivables 16 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired 12,887 13,426
and provision matrix)
-EHRNFR TEA {EEE tHBHEERR
(RBELEERERERRER)
- prepayments, deposits |6 N/A Low risk I2-month ECL (assessed individually) 3,787 997
and other receivables
-BAFE KR TER (R 12fE AR S EEEE (BRI
Eft RYHE
l6 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit impaired) 13,715 13,715
TER BR THEAEERE (BEREEERE)
Contract assets 17 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired 9,597 9,715
and provision matrix)
AMEE TER {ERB tHBHEERR
(RBELEERELERRR)
Bank balances and cash 18 Aa3 to A2 Low risk I2-month ECL (assessed individually) 44,770 25,183
RITEHEA S ABBEA {ERB DNEABREESE (BRIFE)
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For the year ended 30 April 2022

HE-_ZT-_—_FMOA=+tHLEEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)

26. BIXEBREERATLETE (&)

263 FERAR (&)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. For
the year ended 30 April 2022, the Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and loss allowance of HK$13,736,000 (2021:
HK$13,715,000) was recognised as at the end of the yean

Bank balances and deposits placed in financial institution

The Group's bank balances and deposits placed in financial
institution with approved and reputable banks and financial
institution. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks and financial
institution may cause the Group's right with respect to bank
balances and deposits placed in financial institution held to
be delayed or limited. The directors of the Company monitor
the credit rating of these banks and financial institution on an
ongoing basis, and consider that the Group’s exposure to credit
risk as at 30 April 2022 and 2021 were minimal.

Trade receivables and contract assets

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past 12 months. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of

the receivables.

HittEWRER RS
SEMERFENS AATES
BEBTEER BELR MU
REBRATHNAEERNE
ERTEUER T E M ER
T8 6 B W [2 A B 7T B Bl BT 4 o
BE-_T-_-_FNA=THILF
E-AREEFEEMERTE
MEREEBEIERFRER
137360008 L (=S =—%F:
13,715,000/ 7T) #) B 54

BTEBRASRHEBNER

AEENRTESRINSHEED
BRIDERRRAREERTNE
ThergE RITREBKER
EXENEROHERAEER
EFREMRITESR RN S REE
BT R AR A I Sk BIRR 1 -
ARRESHBERZZRIK
PREBNEETR URALE
Rk T-—FNH
STHAAX ZEERRBEM-

ESERRERGHNEE
BHBEXREAE T _EAMN
ERBRERIE RS RELE
HAE URRREBESENE
HAEEA R - B AT BN R
FRUAERRF BARERRNE
BRI ER



—_160

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BE|RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 26, HEEABEERATLETE (£)
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued) 263 EERK (£)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) ESRVFERENEE (&
Movement in the allowance for credit loss in respect of trade ERESRNTIENANEEZE
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows: EEERENERNZEFHNT
2022
“EC-CF
Average Gross Expected
loss rate  carrying amount credit losses
FHERER RREE BRYEEER
Trade receivables % HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 RWHEA % TET TR
Current (not past due) B (RaH) = 12,634 -
1-30 days past due 30K - - -
31-60 days past due BEBI-60K - - -
61-90 days past due B 1-90K - - -
More than 90 days past due BHPOKRIA £ 55.73% 253 141
12,887 141
2021
—E-—F
Average Gross Expected
loss rate  carrying amount credit losses
FHBRE REREE BHEEEE
Trade receivables % HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 RYWHE % TEL TET
Current (not past due) HE (k@) - 13,151 -
1-30 days past due AHI30K - - -
31-60 days past due HHEA3 160K - - -
61-90 days past due BH6I90K - - -
More than 90 days past due BEI90ORIA £ 30.80% 275 85
13,426 85




26.

MIBEREEREEERAT
2022 & 8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M| RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022

BE-Z-_—_FMNA=1THLEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE 26. BBEREERAFEFE (£)
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued) 263 EERK (£)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BERRREREGHNEE (&
HK$’000
THERT
Contract assets BREE
2022 —E-CE
Expected credit loss rate (%) BHEEBEE®%) 1.01%
Gross carrying amounts BEREE 9,597
Expected credit losses EHEEER 97
Net carrying amounts FREE 9,500
HK$'000
TERT
Contract assets BHEE
2021 i
Expected credit loss rate (%) RHEEBEE %) 1.01%
Gross carrying amounts BEREE 9,715
Expected credit losses EHEEER 98
Net carrying amounts FEREE 9,617

61—
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

that has been recognised for prepayment, deposits and other

26, BERABREBERAFETE (£)
263 SERK(E)
ENFE ReREtERRE
Ti"%@/—?\_ﬁﬁﬁ)f—FEﬁEwm%Ehl
FHE B REMbERTERN 2B

receivables under the general approach. TEHM*%)EEF BEER
12 months Lifetime
ECL ECL Total
(credit-impaired)
T=@A 2HRHS
RAFERR REEBR st
(REEERE)
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TR TET TER
As at | May 2020 RZZE-_ZFRA—H 409 = 409
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries X IF4x & AR B L 7] (409) - (409)
Impairment losses recognised EHAREER = I3/ 13,715
At30 April 2021 and | May 2021 RZZEZ—FMA=+AK=
——FhA—H - 13,715 13,715
Impairment recognised E®ARE 21 - 21
At 30 April 2022 RZEZZFMA=1H 21 13,715 13,736
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
HEZZ-__FNA=THLEHFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.3 Credit risk (Continued)

Movement of allowance for expected credit loss for trade

receivables, contract assets and other receivable and as follows:

BREBEER A FENE(4)

263 SERK(E)

TREREEBNBAMNRE KL
REMEBTIBENERRESE:

Prepayment,

deposits and

Trade Contract other
receivables assets  receivables Total
ANRE:
BER
BZRURE BNEE HuEKRE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FER TR TR TR
As at | May 2020 RN_E_TFRA—H 113 134 409 656
Reversal of expected credit loss T Hi{5 & B EEE (28) (36) - (64)
Reversal upon deconsolidation X IF&R & ABRH B A 774
of subsidiaries & - - (409) (409)
Allowance for expected credit EHREHEEEHEREE
loss recognised — — 13,715 13,715
Asat 30 April 2021 and | May RZZEZ—FHNA=1+AHK
2021 —T--F¥1A-H 85 98 13,715 13,898
Allowance for expected credit ERRBEHREEBERE
loss recognised 56 (n 21 76
As at 30 April 2022 RZEZZFMA=1H 141 97 13,736 13,974

163



164

ZHEJIANG UNITED INVESTMENT HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED

2022 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A BE|RMEE

For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_FT__FMA=1THLEE

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)

26.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of
trade payables and its financing obligations, and also in respect of
its cash flow management. The Group's objective is to maintain
an appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the Group in

meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its non-derivative financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting date. When the creditor has a choice of when the
liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay. Where
the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is committed

to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the

BREBEER A FENE(4)

264 REBESEK

mBE R EREERGEET
HENRNR GRS -2 REES
EMcRaBEEEEENRARA
B ARENEEE FRNFER
BIEREEETENLRERE
ERFEAXRHECER A&
ERERREREEKTAREE
ERDGREHAEABEER UEE
RORRARHESRE

EEREEARENRRERR
NHEREAENEERE-

TXBERASERBEHRAREHAE
FTEeRmBENRTEOFHS
MeHERAREEZEERAEDN
R hEEEERASEEEX
EENGZERABAR -WMUHEAE
BOHEE SEEFEREAKE
AHEENZEHRAAR.

TXAENAIMHERTRMEE

undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities. HIARBLIRIB S TR E1EL ©
On demand Total
or within undiscounted Carrying
one year cash flows amount
BREX REEH
TR—FR RERBAR REE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
FER TR TER
As at 30 April 2022 R-ZZB-ZFfMA=+H
Trade and other payables 85 REMERNTIE 85,574 85,574 85,574
Borrowings E 5317 5317 4,969
90,891 90,891 90,543
As at 30 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA=+AH
Trade and other payables B REMENFIE 61,992 61,992 61,992
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENT (Continued)
26.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets

in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash

resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash.

The Group's existing cash resources and other liquid assets

significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.

26.5 Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost are not materially different

from their fair values for both years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme on
I5 October 2015 (the “Scheme”). The terms of the Scheme are in
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing

Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participants
and to promote the success of the business of the Group. Eligible

participants of the share option scheme include employees (full-

time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,

contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service

providers of the Group.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme, in any [2-month period up to

the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance
of an offer for the grant of option(s) is HK$I. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early

termination thereof.

26.

27.

mEMBWRME
For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_Z-_—FUA=THLHFE

BREBEER A FENE(4)

264 FBESRER (Z)
AEERTERERTRDESER
FeEEZRECRMEENBHRSR
B LERHEHGERRIELR
SRMEMTHEE ASBRAS
SERREMRHEERBRABR
E I

265 DYVEE
RMEEE  NEBREHEKAT
RremEERBB REERR
ATEIEERZER-

BREE
ARAR-ZE-RFTATHAAEKY
RmERERT 8 (5251811 - &AT IR
R EEGEM E TR A FE 238 M 53R
5o

ZrtElE BRI RBBATREEAT
REBINERTRERSEE YR A
SEXBALEE -BRENINAER
SREBRASEES (2BLRE)
ES BR -#AA DHE AERE
R RE FEP BEBHARBHE
7o

BERHBHEEM 2EABEAN R
REZAEREMN2EER L NBRE
(BRETERERITENRRE) ET
EmETRE FRITORNEH  T5H
BEBEITAMDA 1% o

REBRENZORMELEREOR
HERER)ELRAKR-BIREX
RAERNERNBNR SRR O BRERA
RAXMNI BT - ARARTREEG A &
BRT IR R REZ SRR
BAE  EABESR I SERRL B
ATE AR BRARAR L RAERR -
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27.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of:
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option. For
the purpose of calculating the subscription price, where the Company
has been listed on the Stock Exchange for less than five business days,
the new issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business

day falling within the period before listing.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on the date of adoption, being |5 October 2015, and
shall expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier by

the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.

(@) The terms and conditions of the share options granted are as

follows:

27.

ERESE (2)

BIEZET BB L 0 T B R E AR
NRBEEHEFS L RETIANZ M
F BFABERATIESE : (\RHRE
BRERLBH(BEREER)RERAT
SHBERMBUTE: (IRHRBEEZE
BRESL AR AEEERERITE
AHEXRMEOTHRTE: Rii)kH
REBRER L BRNEE ERTERE
BWME @ AR RE AT ETHEiRE D
RABEEEB HETEBRERLTA
HRENEERAMKmE:.

ZEBRNRAEH (205t A
TRE)EFTFRER BIFERRKA
SLEARARRRERRIL  BRRER
BRESERTEFH—EZXANE
FRRERBER-

(@) REBRENEKXREEDT:

Number of
instruments  Vesting conditions Exercise period
TEHE BEKH TR
Options granted to employees:
RYREMBRE:
—on 23 September 2019 60,000,000  No vesting period or 5 years
vesting condition

-RZE-NFEAA-T=H TR B E HT 55
Total share options granted 60,000,000

pedulioke e £t
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For the year ended 30 April 2022
BE_T__FHNOA=1THLFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 27. ERESE (&)
(@) The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows: (Continued) @) RBREWEIREENT: (£)
As at 30 April 2022 and 2021, the number of shares in respect RZE-_ZFF-_E-—%NA
of which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted =+8 BiTEREZTEE R
and remain outstanding under the Scheme was 60,000,000, M AR AT {50 60 B AR T P B 1T 9
representing 3.8% of the shares of the Company in issue at that 17 818 A60,000,0008%  HARA
date. AN & A 2 EITRINA93.8% °
30 April 2022 30 April 2021
“R-"FNA=1H —E--%WA=1H
Weighted Weighted
average exercise Number of average exercise Number of
price per share options  price per share options
=19 B NE
FHTEE BREHE FHTEE BREHA
HK$ ’000 HK$ ‘000
BT T4 BT Tn
On | May RAA—H 0.35 60,000 0.35 60,000
Forfeited during the year ~ FRAEIL (0.35) (60,000) - -
On 30 April REA=+H - - 035 60,000
As at 30 April 2022, there were no options outstanding in RZZEZZFMA=1H 1REZ
relation to the grant of share options on 23 September 2019 FERZZE-NENAZT=HER
under the Scheme. All the options granted were forfeited due to HHERET ERTEERE B
the employees with options granted left the Group. REXERENESRAAEE
AR LR BIRED SR U -
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 28. TEFHRERZ
There was no material major non-cash transactions for the year BE_Z-__#R-_Z-_—FWMA=+
ended 30 April 2022 and 2021. ALFETESERFRER S
EFFECT OF COVID-19 29. COVID-192 %%
Since January 2020, the outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19") E_Z_ZF AR FEETKRS
has dealt a big blow on the global business environment. The (TCOVID-19 ) BEH 2 RERBRREK
development and spread of COVID-19 subsequent to the date of this BRITE - RARE BHERCOVID-1 98
report may result in further changes in economic conditions arising BRRETAEES RIS ENE—F
thereof which may have negative impact on the financial results of BN B AR EE MG E
the Group, the extent of which could not be estimated as at the date BEHXAEYE ERARERHEERG
of this report. The Group will keep monitoring the situation of the HEEUMTERE -AEEHBER T
COVID-19 and react actively to its impact on the financial position COVID-1915 R Wi ES EE AREE
and operating results of the Group. HBRR N EEENTE -
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 30. REHREE
There was no significant events after the reporting period for the year BE-Z-_FUA=THLFE R
ended 30 April 2022. EHEREERSE -
APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 3. HEREMBRE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of Directors on 29 July 2022.

GRMBHRECHAEFEN T _—
tAZTNBRHERFETT
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~ AEEBEBEREVHEEMNEEREERAE
last five financial years is as follows. RE&HIMT -

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EZCF —E-—% ZIZE-FF —T-NEF ZE-N\FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET FET FET FET

Revenue g 133,305 110,123 144,816 158,401 137,802
Direct costs BEERA (131,451) (108,666) (143,467) (153,018) (135,980)
Gross profit E7 1,854 457 1,349 5,383 1,822
Other income and H e A R B A

other net loss BT 868 1,269 (1424) 3,189 1,012
Administrative expenses THAX (9,538) (14,971) (40,804) (21,456) (13,480)
Loss on deconsoliclation BitEa NRHE AR

of subsidiaries HEE - (23,575) - - -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries &8 FE#E (185) _ _ _ _
Impairment loss on financial EREEREESE

assets (76) (57,539) (656) - -
Operating loss REER (7,077) (93,359) (41,535) (12,884) (10,646)
Finance costs RMEKAR (287) 0 (254) (12) (12)
Loss before income tax PRETEBIAIEE (7,364) (93,360) (41,789) (12,896) (10,658)
Income tax credit/(expense) FigRige,/ (%) = - 170 (630) (140)
Loss for the year FEBE (7,364) (93,360) (41,619) (13,526) (10,798)
Other comprehensive income/  Eft2EMRA /(%)

(expense) - 4,173 (1,108) (1,027) -
Total comprehensive expense  FE 2 H ¥ B

for the year (7,364) (89,187) (42,727) (14,553) (10,798)
Loss attributable to AREHEE AR

owners of the Company B (7,364) (93,360) (39,581) (13,526) (10,798)

Total comprehensive expense  ANARIHEA AEEZE
attributable to owners of the R X #2%8

Company (7,364) (91,190) (40,724) (14,553) (10,798)
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Total assets BEE 71,362 50,172 161,559 137,561 119,542
Total liabilities BEE (90,580) (62,026) (84,226) (74,509) (46,644)

Net (liabilities)/assets (8fE) EE%E (19,218) (11,854) 77,333 63,052 72,898

Equity attributable to owners AR EHE AEGED
of the Company (19218) (11,854 79,336 63052 72,898
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